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Group Executive Chairman’s Statement

Introduction

CareTech has continued to demonstrate the significant resilience of its business model by delivering strang growth in all of its key
performance indicators.

On 27 September 2022, CaraTech was delisted from the Altemnative Investment Market (AIM'} of the London Stock Exchange,
having been lisied for 17 years, Myself and my brother, Haroon Sheikh, are controlling shareholders and remain fully involved in the
management of CareTech, and expect to do so along with the existing senior management team.

Under our new ownership structure, it is intended that Care lech will continue its support for those with physical and leaming
disabilities, advancing skills development for the care sector, and supporting lecal communities.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank all our staff who have worked tirelessly through the year, enabling us to deliver excellent
care to individuals in our services.

Performance
The financial performance and further details of the delisting are discussed in the Strategic Report on page 5.
Dividend

The Board of CareTech Holdings Limited {formerty CareTech Holdings PLC) did not recommend the payment of an interim
dividend during the year (2021: 4 6p).

Due to the Group being acquired by Amalfi Bidco Limited on 27 September 2022 the Board have not recommended the
payment of a final dividend {2021: 9.5p).

Board

Details of the current Directors are set out on pages 12 to 13.

Corporate Governance

The Board firmly believes that an effective corporate govemance framework is essential to underpin the success of the business,
supporting management while ensuring an appropriale leve! of challenge and exercising proper oversight while facilitating decision-

making,

The Board is focused on taking steps to enhance standards of governance and aspires to adopt high standards of corporale
govemance.

The Board met & times during the year and focused primarily upon strategic and policy issues and is responsible for leadership of
the Group, implementing and monitoring effective cantrols 1o assess and manage risk, supporting the Group’s Executive team fo
formulate and execute the Group’s strategy, manitoring the perfaormance of the Group and setting the Group’s values and
standards.,

During the year and prior to the delisting on 27 September 2022, best practice govemnance principles were adopted through a Care
Quality & Govemance Commiltee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Commitiee.

Care Quality & Governance

The Committee met 4 times during the year. The purpose of the Committee is 1o lead the development of the Group’s quality
strategy and be responsible for the strategic oversight and assurance of care standards across the Group. In paricular, to hold the
Executive to account for the gavernance, risk and assurance process in place to identify, mitigate and manage risk to maintain and
improve the quality and safety of Group services. Delails of its membership are on page 13.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee held 4 meetings during the year. No Director attends any meeting relating to his or her own
remuneration. It holds responsibility for approving the remuneration and other benefits for the Executive Directors and other senior
executives of the Company. Details of its membership are on page 14.

Audit Committee

The Audit Cammittee held 2 meetings during the year.

Going conhcemn

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adeguate resources to continue in operational exisience for at

least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements, The Group therefore continues to adopt the going concem
basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements,
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The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for the going concem period to 30 June which is 12 months from the date of
approval of these financial statements. On 7 October 2022, the Group's existing debt facilities were refinanced through new credit
facilities with Ares Management Limited in connection with Amalfi Bidco Limited’s acquisition of the Group. The Group will therefore
meet its day to day working capital requirements through its cash reserves, and intercompany bank and sharehalder loans. These
forecasts take into account the expectation in relation to cccupancy, fee rates, resident mix, care hours and ¢osts (including
agency), cther costs and a full programme of maintenance capital expenditure. In addition, subsequent to year end, a number of
properties have been utilised as part of a sale package, subject to long-term |ease agreements. The proceeds generated of
£302.5m have been used ta pay, in part, the new credit facilities with Ares Management Limited. The Board has also modelled
several forecasts inclusive of downside sensitivities.

All forecasts, inclu&ing the downside sensitivities and reverse stress test indicate that the Company will have sufficient cash
resaurces for the going concem period. in addition, there are a number of discretionary expenditures which could be reduced if
necessary, and sufficient assets on the balance sheet that could be used to raise additional cash if required.

Consequently, the Directars are confident that the Company will have sufficient resources to continue to mee! its liabilities as they
fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements and therefore have prepared the financial
statements on a going concem basis.

Outlook

CareTech enters the new financial year as a private company. We continue to believe we have a well-executed investment
strategy, which meets a critical social care need. Our fundamentals remain strong and we remain committed to providing high-
quality care ta those we look after. Our balance sheet is underpinned by a significant property portfolio and strong cash generation.

We look forward to continuing to invest in the maintenance and enhancement of our existing estate as well as growing the
business through the opening of new, purpose built premium care facilities.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere thanks to our staff who have worked tirelessly throughout the year,

enabling us to deliver excellent quality care. | am enormmously proud particularly of our front-tine colleagues in delivering
Extraordinary Days, Every Day for our service users.

Finaly, | would like to thank both our former shareholders and our new shareholders for their support, and my fellow Board
members for their commitment throughout the year.

F’Mouol, Sleitle

Farouq Sheikh OBE
Group Executive Chairman
26" June 2023

Caretech Holdings Limited (formerly CareTech Holdings PLC) Annual Repart and Accounts 2022 4



DocuSign Envelope ID: EBEB549B-6085-419A-89563-7CA5B882D300

Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

The Directors present their strategic report for the year ended 30 September 2022,
Principal activity

The CareTech family of companies provide high-quality care and support across the whale saocial care spectrum for children and
adults below retirement age.

Cur Adults Services support people with leaming disabilities, individuals who have or are recovering from mental illness, people with
aulistic spectrum disorder, individuals who have one or more physical impaimments and provide care and rehabilitation for acquired
braln injury (“ABI"). We deliver services in residential, day care and a wide choice of creative supported living seftings.

Our Children's Services - recognised nationally for their expertise - cover assessment, residential care, education and fostering
options. We specialise in supporting children and young people with very complex needs including those with challenging behaviours,
sexually offending behaviours, or who have emotional and behavioural disorders. We carefully and professionally suppert any child,
irrespective of their need for being in social care, and our comprehensive high-quality services include the UK's largest portfalio of
specialist schools and colleges.

CareTech has pioneered outcomes and progression along the Care Pathway including transition services for young people leaving
care and for adults who are making the move into their own home after a lifetime in restdential or institutional settings.

We are acceleraung aigital adoption watiun the Group and blending care and technology in new meaningful ways so even people
with the most complex of needs can participate and flourish in society.

The Group's strategy is focused on being a leading intemational, integrated provider of specialist social care services for children
and adult's delivering high quality and care excellence.

On 27 June 2022, Amalfi Bidco Limited ('Bidco') (@ newly formed company indirectly owned by joint offerors Sheikh Holdings
Group (Investments) Limited, Belgravia Investments Limited and Kensington Capital Limited, and funds managed by THCS IV GP
S.ark and TH Management IV 8.4 r.l. and advised by THCP Advisory Limited) and the independent committee of the board of
CareTech, consisting of Jamie Cumming, Dr Moira Livingston and Adrian Stone, announced they had reached agreement on the
terms of a recommended offer by Bidco for the entire issued, and 1o be issued, ordinary share capital of CareTech.

The offer was unplemented through a court-sanctioned scheme of arrangement {'Scheme'} and sharehalders received 750 pence
in cash for each share. As an alternative, sharehalders were alsc able to elect to receive a partial alternative offer in lieu of alt or
part of the cash consideration. On 8 September 2022, the Scheme was approved by the requisite majorities of scheme
shareholders at the Court Meeting and the resolution in connection with the implementation of the Scheme was passed by the
requisite majority of CareTech shareholders at the General Meeting.

On 27 September 2022, it was announced that the Scheme had become effective and the entire issued and to be issued ordinary
share capital of CareTech was owned by Bidco with Jamie Cumming, Maira Livingston and Adrian Stone resigning as non-
executive directors. Trading in CareTech shares on AiM was suspended on 27 September 2022 with cancellation of admissian to
trading on 28 September 2022,

As a result, the existing bank loans will be settled as noted in the subsequent events note, and all existing share schemes will vest
in according the with scheme rules as detailed in note 22 1o the financial statements,

Fair review of the business

Following CareTech's first intemational investment in the UAE, the Group announced two further acquisitions during the year to
develop a whole person care pathway of services for peaple with complex needs and disabilities. Dmetco-Bayti is a well-
eslablished home healtheare provider managing the daily health and social care needs of its patients across the UAE and the
Wellness Group provides integrated physical health consultations and surgical services. Both acquisitions will expand the care
pathway to encompass specialist health and social care services in home care environments, and physical healthcare services in

specialist clinic settings.

The Group also announced that it had acquired REHAVISTA GmBH (REHAVISTA') in November 2021 which provides a
significant opportunity for Smartbox to expand the availability of their products in Germany. This continues CareTech's ambilion lo
develop a sector first Digital Pathway of services. Further expanding on the existing partnership between Smartbox and
REHAVISTA, and across Smartbox's global customer base, which spans more than 30 languages and 45 distributors.

Group revenues increased £21.6m to £510.7m, an increase of 4.4% driven by fee rate inflation and the acquisitions made during
the year. Occupancy decreased during the year with the effects of labour shortages and the emergence of the highly transmissible
QOmicron variant in early December 2021 leading to challenges around staff absentees and higher agency costs. Accordingly,
COVID-19 costs have occurred which were in part been funded by Govermment Social Care support through the Infection Control
and Testing Fund and Workforce Recruitment and Retention Fund.

From 1 April 2022, the Group increased the minimum national hourly rate to £9.75 which is above the National Living Wage hourly
rate of £9.50. Despite inflationary pressures, Local Authorities recognise that front line staff are an integra! part of the quality of care
delivery and the Group was able to cover the majority of additional costs.

As shown the Group's Profit and Loss Account on page 19, tumover for the year ended 30 September 2022 amounted to £510.7m
(2021: £489.1m) and gross profit o £162.8m (2021: £165.7m). Operating profit of £25.5m (2021: £79.5m) included exceptional
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costs of £15.2m relating to the delisting during the year and £5.8m of costs as a consequence of COVID-19, which have been in
part funded by £1.6m of Govermnment Social Care support {2021: £11.7m income as a result of a refease of sleep-in pravisions and
a £5.8m gain on bargain purchase} and amortisation of £13.2m (2021: £10.2m). The net profit of £6.5m (2021: £35,3m, is stated
after non-cash charges including an interest charge of £16.1m, (2021: £13.3m) and taxation of £2.9m (2021; £30.9m).

The net debt position cf the Group at the year end comprised the fallowing elements:

2022 2021

£m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 27.3 656
Bank loans (320.3) (317.9)
Shareholder loan (0.1) (1.8}
Lease and hire purchase conlracts (4.8) {4.6)
Net debt at 30 September (298.0) (258.7)

Nat assets at the year end increased to £410.9m (2021: £380.9m). The reconciliation of the movement is shown in the
cansaolidated stalement of changes in equity on page 27.

Principal risks and uncertainties & key performance indicators

Sqcial care is a long-term contract with the public sector and is inherently free of risk so long as quality is maintained, culcomes are
achieved and the price is ight. However, social care does carry risks that will always be at the forefrant of cur minds. The most
ohvious risk is that a tragedy will aceur and that the Group will be held to blame. We take that risk very seriously. Our principal risk
management strategy is to ensure that our staff are recruited well, are trained and supervised properly and are subject to rigorous
quality oversight. In addition, we know from experience, that processes and documentation must be very carefully observed and
constantly reviewed ta ensure that it protects service users and provides the Group with a defendable position in the case of tragedy.

These matters, along with general safeguarding are subject 1o intense scrutiny by our in-house compliance and quality teams and
Board level oversight.

Managing and mitigating risk

All providers of health and social care are conscious of the need for management vigilance and the requirement to have a thorough
commitment to delivering care thal is safe and of a high quality. CareTech's approach to quality and safe service delivery is
characterised by a mixture of a dedicated compliance team camying out regular inspection audits and 2 commitment to building
quality into everything we da. We maintain a Risk Register, which includes all key risks and how these are mitigated through quality
of service and good communication with service users and local authorities. The Risk Register is reviewed monthly.

We thoroughly review our operations on a regular basis and, in conjunction with the approach outlined above, The Directors
betieve this achieves a robust assessment of principal and emerging risks.

Our principal risks

The market for the provision of social care services continues 1o be dynamic, presenting both risks and opportunities. The overall
number of people needing support will increase, and a smaller proportion of them will be placed into residential services. Those who
do need a residential care solution will have more complex needs and are likely to require a wider range of senvices, including clinical
and therapeutic support. Our cperational management teams are already focusing on the delivery of high-quality care. As we move
forward this will become increasingly specialised with the benefit of professional qualified care co-ordinators who will prepare and
direct personalised care plans within the services.

Most service users will be supported in their own homes through domiciliary care or in more formal supported living amangements.
This is a major growth area for care providers and CareTech already has a solid reputation for its high quality and flexible selutions.
We are building this to a higher level and refining cur organisational structure to build more rapidly on our successes ta date.

Recruiting and retaining high-quality staff

The Group seeks to attract and retain staff through:

- Responding to staff turnover, vacancy rates and staff engagement surveys
. Maintaining competitive pay and benefits

. Positive workplace and culture

. Investment in aur staff through training

. Overseas recruitment to secure healthcare workers from autside the EU

- Bank staff or agency warkers

KPIs used:
- Annualised retention rate* — 71% (2021: 71%)
* The number of employees working for the year to 30 September 2022 as a percentage of the number of employees at 1 October

2021,
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Maintaining high levels of staff retention underpins our high-quality service ratings. Our retention rate compares favourably to the
industry average. The effects of the pandemic have stabiiised as have retention rates. Recruitment remains a challenge in line with
a UK-wide ongoing concem.

Compliance and Reguialion

Legis!ation and regutation will change and become more onerous, complex and demanding and is therefore considered an area of
potential risk for the Group and its operations,

To manage this risk, the Group has:

. A dedicated compliance team that monitor regulatory developments and advises the Group thereon

. Regular mandatory training for all staff across a mnge of regulatory compliance areas e .g. data protection, health and safety
and safeguarding

. Compliance intemal audit team carrying out site visits

. External independent inspection of our services (NYAS)

. CQC/ Cfsted inspections

KPls used:
- Regulatory compliance (external) - CQC 85% (2021: 86%) and Ofsted 79% (2021: 80%)

The markets that CareTech operates in are regulated by Cfsted and the CQC and their equivalents in Scotland and Wales. Each
facility is inspected and given a score, with a range of outcomes from "Outstanding’, 'Good’, 'Requires Improvement’ to Inadequate’
(or equivalent).

Whilst both CQC and Ofsted reguizatory ratings compare favourably to the industry average, we remain committed 1o providing the
highest quality of care across all our services and have comprehensive impravement plans in place.

Servica Oifer and User needs

The service offer has to be provided to meet the needs of the commissioners at a fair price and this is coming under increased
scrutiny as commissioners regulary review value for money.

To mitigate this risk, the Group engages frequently and proactively with our commissioners at a local level and strategically at
regional and national levels.

KPI used:
- Cccupancy rates* — 76% (2021: 78%)

* Occupancy is the total number of Adult and Children's Services users placed in services that were open throughout the year.

Qccupancy has remained broadly unchanged with the slight decrease following some of the recruiting challenges facing both the
industry and UK wide ongoing concems,

Future Prospects

The demand for our services remains high, with those we care for presenting needs tending to be ever greater. Our growth is
focused on meeting the demands of the market through continuing to invest in the maintenance and enhancement of our existing
services as well as growing the business further through the opening of new sites.

The Gulf markets of the Middle East represents an untapped need. Through our presence in the AS Group we are well positioned
1o capitalise in the region. Growth in service developments next year will include home health and social care services, physical
healthcare and special education needs school development,

Our digital technology division has demonstrated the need for innovative technolagy to support staff with solutions enabling greater

quality care far our service users. We believe there is an enormous digital innovation opporiunity and this will be a focus and
investment in the coming years.
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Statement by the Directors in performance of their statutory duties in
accordance with s172(1) Companies Act 2006

The Board of Directars of CareTech Holdings Limited (formerly CareTech Holdings PLC) consider, both individually and together,
that they have acted in the way they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Company for the
benefit of its members as a whole (having regard to the stakeholders and matters set out in s172(1){a-f) of the Act) in the decisions
taken during the year ended 30 September 2022.

In daing sa, the Directors have given regard fo:

The likely consequences of long-term decisions;

The interests of the Company’'s employees;

The need to foster relationships with our suppliers, customers and others;

The impact of the Company's cperations on the community and environment;

The desirability of the Group maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and attribute importance fo
behaving as a responsible business; and

. The need to act fairly between members of the Group

The Board considers and has discussed information from across the organisation to enable it 1o understand the impact of the
Group's operations, and the interests and views of our key stakeholders. It also reviews strategy, financial and operational
performance as well as information covering areas such as key risks, and legal and regutatory compliance. Engagement with the
Company’s main stakeholder groups, including our peaple, those we care for, our communities, suppliers and regulators are
summarised below.

Qur People

Qur staff are the bedrock of the organisation and deliver great quaiity care for the people we support. We employ over 11,000
qualified and skilled front-line staff including care workers, teachers and managers. They are supported by a professional team of
clinical and therapeutic staff, back-office and support services. The care, commitment, passian empathy and professionalism of our
staff are crifical to the success of our Group and the care we provide. The Board recognises the increasing importance of engaging
with its workforce to maintain strong operational delivery. We therefore strive 1o maintain and create further opportunities to
gererate dialogue between management and our employees.

How we engage

Employee engagement levels are recognised as central to how we operate and are regulanly discussed and considered across all
levels of management. Including quality of leadership across CareTech employees, and being informed on a broad range of
subjects including collaboration, working conditions, roles and responsibilities, people development, reputation, benefits and
rewards, diversity and inclusion, operational excellence and responsible business.

Over the last year, we have reduced the time to hire through additional recruitment rescurces, including the introducing the new
Engagement officer roles. We also invested in our Applicant Tracking System digital recruitment tool, providing 2 more efficient
process for applicants. CareTech have been developing a new Equity, Diversity and Inclusion {EDI) strategy, working with
colleagues to ensure that this vital issue is addressed across all elements across the business. Allied to our commitment to EDI,
we have this year developed our alternative recruitment pathways scheme, seeking to develop recruitment pathways te social care
careers far those under-represented in the sector but also who face significant challenges in securing employment more generally.

Chaired by an Executive Director, the Staff Consullative Commitiee is made up of 40 members of a cross section of diverse
employees and act as a conduit between the staff and the Board on shared employment and service issues that matter to
employees.

impact on Board decisions

The Board have increased investment in wellbeing support for colleagues and ongoing work continues to create a culture of
recognition and praise.

Qur approach to Ipoking after people in our care

We have continued to strive for long-lasting impravernents in our services in a way that is consistent with the interests and priorities
our stakeholder community. As always, the driving force undempinning the Group's operations is the delivery of the highest quality of
care to those in our care.

As the Group grows, we strive tg maintain a culture that never forgets the importan! relationship we have with the people we support.
We seek to nurture these relationships and see them as partnerships of mutual interest and respect, with our person-centred
approach ensuring people’s interests are safequarded and vulnerabilities minimised.

The further expansion of our Care Pathway seeks to provide “whole of life” of solutions to the needs of the people we support,
maximising independence where possible by encouraging education, pramoting choice, being proactive with family members,
providing training for employment where feasible and nurturing personal ambition where helpful. In the year we have celebrated the
achievements of those we suppart across the country, including helding our annual Art competition and ‘Bloaming Marvellous'
gardening competitions.
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We are determined to preserve the dignity of those we care for and fully support Government initiatives to this end. We see making
each day an extraordinary day for those in our care a vital ingredient to their, and our, success.

From the first lime we meet each person we slart to gain an understanding of not only their needs which are often complex and
challenging, but most importantly to understand their fulture aspirations so that a plan to support them in our care is individual and as
best informed as possible. Where present, parents (carers/guardians), social workers and other professionals play a key role in
supporting the development of their individual care plan.

A person’s care plan is dynamic, informed and updated by ‘their voice’ together with the professionals supporting them in their
placement, alongside their social worker (and other extemal professionals} as well as advocacy services and independent reviewing
professionals who visit services regularly. This muiti-disciplinary approach ensures that the care plan is as rich and well informed as
possible, Where communication is a challenge for a person, the use of appropriale communication techniques are important, from
computer assistive devices, such as those provided by our Smarthox GRID technalogy, to British Sign Language and Makaton to
ensure their voice is heard. We have implermnented Mind of My Own across alt our Children's Service to enable us to capture and
“listen” to the voice of the young people in our services and respond to their individual needs.

We spend time 1o explain how each person's voice can be heard, and what they should do if they think that this is not happening.
They are reminded of this on an ongoing basis.

How we engage

Each persan is formally reviewed against clear progress targels being set by the team supporting the person. We utilise surveys, in
the form of simple questionnaires, to ensure that our provision is meeting the needs of those in our care. As part of the regulatory
ingpection process, nspectors meet with the people in our care and ask for their feedback, which is included as a key part of the
inspection report.

We suppart visiting and contact with parents appropriately and as agreed as part of any care plan.

A key ingredient for ensuring we have the impact we strive for is to hear the voice of those we care for. Mind of My Own is an award-
winning digital 2pp that helps children and young people express themseives and communicate with professionals, making sure
everyone Is heard. Over the past 18 months, we have impltemented Mind of My Own acrass al! relevant services and the platform is
now embedded and fast becoming business as usual. Cumulatively, we have received aver 6,000 statements from young people in
our care through the app.

Impact on Roard decisians

The Board receives regular feedback from our service users through Board meetings and divisional reviews and pricritises
continuing to ensure that we work towards the aspiration of each person by making every day an extraordinary day and celebrating
their successes,

Our Commissioners

The commissioners in local authorities and health bodies across England, Scotland and Wales are key stakeholders for CareTech,
The people in our care are typically referred by a social worker or case manager and access 10 our services Is purchased through
the authority's respective commissioning teams. The funding of placements is not always met by social care; health commissioners
support the payment of any 'health’ component of a care package. Effective engagement and communication with these stakeholders
is a priority for the Group.

All staff at CareTech interface in some way either directly or indirectly with local authorities and other commissioners. The Group's
business development teams have overall responsibility to ensure that engagement and communication are effective, and, together
with operational colleagues, ensure that the Board is fully aware of cormmissioning trends. Contact with local authorities is at least
daily across the Group. This ranges from the daily partnership working with social work teams to ensure that the needs of people in
our care are being met, to formal placement and business reviews. These reviews involve our core staff, senior operational
colleagues and Direclors, depending on the meetings’ requirements.

The demonstration of value for the services that the Group provides is objective, and this is demonstrated individually through
placement reviews and collectively at a service level review. The sharing of regulatory reports and those conducted by independent
visitors allow the ongoing quality assurance of our services to be shared.

How we engage

CareTech's services are present on a multitude of purchasing frameworks across England, Scotland and Wales. These
procurement tools allow providers through a combination of quality and fees to become a recognised pravider aligned to their
provision type. This provides a purchasing mechanism to allow the Group to access placement referrals for people whose
needs could be met by our services. The referral and placement of people takes place daily across the Group. This process
invalves many peaple fram cammissicners and Group staff, with a single focus on understanding and being able to articulate
how the needs of a person can be met. Operational colleagues have had regular contact with coarmmissioners regarding each
placement. Alongside this, there are formal reviews to understand the progress of each person placed and determine any
changes to an individual’s care plan.

Impact on Board decisions

The Board review the sufficiency requirements of commissioners and this feedback allows the planning of future services.
Our Regulators
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CareTech operates in a highly regulated enwironment. The Group invests heavily in its intemal compliance capacity and has
established open, transparent, and positive relations with care, health and education regulators in the national and international
environments within which we operate.

CareTech sits within the CQC ‘Market Oversight' group and complies fully with the financial, business and care regulatory
requirements that market oversight brings. i

Regulatory requirements differ across both the sectors that we operate in, but also in the devolved administrations of Scotland and
Wales. The Group's intemal compliance team suppons the business to undarstand and interpret the external regulatory landscape
and ensure cantinued compliance with all regulatory requirements. The ratings across the Group continue to compare well with other
providers.

Alongside engagement with regulzators, the Group further enhanced strategies and policies for effective data proteclion information
govemance, and in meeting health and safety requirements.

How we engage

CareTech have national relationship meetings with Ofsted and CQC on a regular basis. There is regular dialogue at regional and
local level on services quality and compliance with participation in consuitations and learning events with all regulatory bodies.

Impact on Board decisions

The Board regulaily reviews feedback from our Regulaters and any proposed changes to the regulatory environment when
considering making its decisions.

Our Suppliers

The Beard is mindful of the importance of ensuring that the Group is able to source a broad range of high-quality products from a
hase of wellrespected suppliers and of being a trusted partner for our suppliers.

How we engage

Supplier relationships are primarily managed by our property and procurement team with payment practices monitored on a
monthly basis. Suppliers must demonstrate that they operate in accordance with recognised standards that upheld human
rights and safety and prohibit modern slavery.

Impact on Board decisions

Members of the Executive team liaise with key suppliers and inform its decision-making process.

Our Communities and environment

The company's commitment to respansible business and public reporting on its on its Environmental, Social and Govemance
(ESG) commitments is undiminished. Strategic oversight of our sustainability agenda is provided by our new ESG Committee,
chaired by our Group Sustainability Birector.

Purple, is a thought leader at the forefront of changing the disability conversation for disabled peaple in businesses,
communities and government. The aim is to move the conversation from one anchored in welfare charity and vulnerability to
one of value contribution and opportunity.

How we engage

The CareTech Foundation was established in 2017 to champion and support the social care sector, care workers and those
living in care through four grant streams.

The Purple Tuesday campaign has grown significantly and in 2022 went global with events being held simultaneously in four
continents.
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Iimpact on Board Decisions

ESG has become part of the core Board agenda to enable its decision making process.

As a result of these activities, the Board has an overview of éngagernent with stakeholders, and other relevant factors, which
enables the Directors to comply with their legal duty under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006.

Approved by the Board on 26" June 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

F’arouﬁ, Sloikle

Farouq Sheikh
Chairman
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Directors’ Report for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

The Directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022.
Business review and future developments

The results for the financial year ended 30 Seplember 2022 are set out in the consclidated statement of comprehensive income
detailed on pages 23 to 24. Revenue for the year was £510.7m with operating profit for the year of £25.5m and profit before tax of
£9.4m. Research and development undertaken by the Group is detailed in note 12

The company has chosen in accordance with Companies Act 2006, s. 414C(11) to set out in the company’s strategic report
informatian required by Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008, Sch. 7 to be
contained in the directors' report.

CareTech has established a reputation as a high-quality provider of care and support across the whole social care spectrum for
children and adults below retirement age. The Group has invested heavily in the portiolio and workforce in order to ensure it offers
the best possible enviranments in which to deliver high quality care. We are driven by our purpose 1o enable children, young pecple
and adults with complex needs to make their own life choices, and build confidence and independence to live, leam, thrive and
engage in their families and communities for mare independent futures that meet their aspirations.

CareTech has embarked on a buy, build and partner roadmap ta develop a sector first Digital Pathway of services with the aim to
level the playing field for pecple with disabilities and complex needs.

Share listing and scheme of arrangement

On 27 June 2022, Amalfi Bidco Limited ('Bidco’) (a newly formed company indirecily owned by joint offerors Sheikh Holdings Group
(Investments) Limited, Belgravia Investmenis Limited and Kensington Capital Limited, and funds managed by THCS IV GF S.ar.).
and TH Management IV 5.4 rl. and advised by THCP Advisory Limited) and the independent commitiee of the board of CareTech
Holdings PLC, consisting of Jamie Cumming, Dr Moira Livingston and Adrian Stone, announced they had reached agreement on
the terms of a recommended offer by Bidcao for the entire issued, and to be issued, ordinary share capital of CareTech.

The offer was implemented through a coun-sanctioned scheme of amangement ('Scheme'} and shareholders received 750 pence in
cash for each share. As an altemative, shareholders were also able ta elect to receive a partial aitemative offer in lieu of all or pant
of the cash consideration. On 8 September 2022, the Scheme was approved by the requisite majorities of scheme shareholders at
the Court Meeting and the resalution in connection with the implementation of the Scheme was passed by the requisite majority of
CareTech sharehoiders at the General Meeting.

On 27 September 2022, it was annaunced that the Scheme had become effective and the entire issued and to be issued ordinary
share capilal of CareTech was owned by Bidco with Jamie Cumming, Maira Livingston and Adrian Stone resigning as non-executive
directars. Trading in CareTech shares on AfM was suspended on 27 September 2022 with cancellation of admission to trading on
28 September 2022,

As a resub the existing bank loans will be settled as noted in the subsequent events note, and all existing share schemes will vest in
according the with scheme rules as detailed in note 22 to the financial statements.

Directors of the Group
The Directors who held office during the year were as follows:

Faroug Sheikh — Executive Chairman

Haroon Sheikh — Chief Executive Officer

Christopher Dickinson — Company secretary and Chief Financial Officer

Mike Adams

Kar Managhan (resigned 8 March 2022)

Moira Livingston (resigned 27 September 2022)

Jamie Cumming (resigned 27 September 2022)

Adrian Stone (appointed 14 February 2022 and resigned 27 September 2022)

Farouq Sheikh OBE, Group Executive Chairman
Founder.

Faroug has been a key architect in CareTech’s growth, having co-founded the Group and involved in the vision and strategy from
the outset in 1993. With a background in law and a good understanding of finance and commerce, Farouq has been instrumental in
securing debt and equity funding for the Group as well as leading the management team in winning a number of long-term contracts
from loca! authorities and health commissioners.

Farouq is a leading business entrepreneur, philanthropist and investor and has iniliated and overseen the successful equity
investments and the subsequent exits for 3i Group PLC (in 1896 and 2002) and Barclays Private Equity {in 2002 and 2008).
His intimate knowledge of the social care sector and his commercial and negotiating expertise has guided the Group's growth.

Farouq was honoured with an OBE in 2020 for his services to social care, and has been presented with a number of Entrepreneur

of the Year awards by prestigious organisations including Laing and Buisson, Coutls Bank and Emst & Young. He also presents
widely at healthcare canferences, raising awareness of the specialist social care sector.

Caretech Holdings Limited {formery CareTech Holdings PLC) Annual Report and Accounts 2022 12




DaruSign Envelope |ID: EB6B549B-6085-419A-8963-7CA5B982D30D0

As Patron and Enterprise Fellow of the Prince’s Trust and a member of the Mosaic National Advisory Board, Faroug supports young
pecple by passing on his experience to inspire the next generation of entrepreneurs. He is a Founder Trustee of the CareTech
Charitable Foundation formed in 2017,

Haroon Sheikh, BSc Group Chief Executive Officer
Faunder.

Haroon is amongst the most experenced CEOs in the health and social care sector and one of the UK's leading entrepreneurs and
philanthropists. Along with his brother Farouq, he co-founded CareTech. As Group CEQO he actively leads the day-to-day running of
the Group and its intemational expansion, and has been instrumental in assembling a highly talented leadership team, to support
the continued growth of the business. Hargan brings commercial acumen, related industry experience and property knowledge. He
has a deep commitment and passion tor delivenng high-quality care and support o peaple with complex needs.

Haroon is Patron and Enterprise Fellow of the Prince’'s Trust and is member of the UK Advisory Cauncil of the British Asian Trust
under the patronage of HRH The Prince of Wales.

In 2008, Haroon and Farouq were winners of the highly valued Coutts Family Business Prize and widely applauded for the quality
and social integrity of the business they created. In 2009 they were both finalists in the Emst & Young Entrepreneur of the Year
Awards and in 2016 they received the Outstanding Contribution Award at the Laing & Buisson Annual Healthcare Awards. In 2013
Haroon and Farouq were winners of the “Asian Business of the Year”.

Haroon, a graduate of the University of London, is a Founder Trustee of the CareTech Charitable Foundation formed in 2017, and is
Chairman of the Trustees, working closely with the Foundation’s CED and independent Trusiees.

Christopher Dickinson, Chief Financial Officer
Appointed as an Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer in January 2020.

Prior to joining CareTech, Chris was a Managing Director at Jefferies where he acted for the Group on its acquisition of Cambian.
Prior to Jefferies, Chris spent 14 years at J.P. Morgan advising on many significant M&A transactions and debt and equity raises.
Chris is a chartered accountant, having been admitted as a member of the ICAEW In 2004 and as a Fellow in 2014, and has a
degree in Computer and Management Science from the University of Warwick.

Mike Adams OBE, Executive Director
Appainted as an Executive Director in June 2010.

Mike has a significant track record in the social care, health and disability sectors. He is CEQ of Purple Zest Limited, a Group disability
business, and an Executive Director of CareTech. In previous roles he was Director of the National Disability Team, responsible for
policy and practice for disabled students in higher education; Direclor of Operations for the Disability Rights Commission for two
years; and Chief Executive Officer of ecdp, an Essex based user-led disability organisation. Mike spent nine months as acting Chair
of a large acute hospital trust in Essex and has previously chaired an expert panel an Access to Work, the Gavermment's flagship
disabilty employment programme. Mike has been awarded an Honorary Daoctor of Education for disability isadership from Anglia
Ruskin University.

Mike was honoured with an OBE in 2012 for his services to disability and became a Trustee of the CareTech Charitable Feundation
in 2017, '

The Board
The Boamd focuses primarily upon strategic and policy issues and is responsible for:

. Leadership of the Group.

. Implementing and monitering effective controls to assess and manage risk.

. Supporting the Group Executive Team to formulate and execute the Group's strategy.
s Monitoring the performance of the Group.

= Setting the Group’s values and standards.

During the year the Board delegated certain matters to its four principle committees detailed below, due to the Group delisting on 27
September 2022 these committees dissolved on the group delisting.

Care Quality & Governance Committee
Professor Moira Livingston (Chair), Adrian Stone, Jamie Cumming

Pramotes a culture of high quality and the safe care of service users. Responsible for monitoring specific non-financial risks and
their associated processes, policies and controls.

Nominations Committee
Adrian Stone (Chair}, Moira Livingston, Jamie Cumming

Responsible for ensuring our Board and its Committees have the Fight balance of skills, knowledge and experience and ensuring
adequate succession plans are in place.

Audit Committee
Adrian Stone {Chair), Moira Livingsion, Jamie Cumming
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Respansible for reviewing and reporting to the Beard on the Group's financial reparting, maintaining an appropriate relationship with
the Group's auditor and maonitering the intemal control systems.

Remuneration Committee
Jamie Gumming (Chair), Moira Livingston, Adrian Stoneg

The role of the Remuneration Commitlee includes details of Directors’ remuneration, shareholdings and share options scheme
information. A key Group strategy is to attract and retain talented and committed staff at every level of the business and the
Remuneration Committee aims to foster remuneration philosophy, policies and procedures ta achieve this,

Staff Consultative Committee

The aim of the Staff Consultative Committee is to monitor and facilitate workforce engagement within the Group in order to foster
a meaningful dialogue between the Board and its employees and the awareness of employee matters will aid the Board's
decision-making process.

Dividends
Dividends of £16.0m have been paid by Caretech Holdings Limited during the year (2021: £14.4m).

Due to the Group being acquired by Amalfi Bidco Limited on 27 September 2022 the Board have not recommended the payment
of a final dividend (2021 £9.9m).

Directors’ insurance

The Company maintains appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance, as pemitted by the Companies Act 2006.
Financial instruments

The Group is exposed to a combination of price, credit, interest rate, foreign exchange and cash flow risks. The Group uses
financizal instruments including cash, bormowings and interest rate swaps, the main purpose of which are 1o raise finance for the
Group’s activities and fo manage interest rate risks. Disclosures in respect of these instruments are set out in nate 26 to the
financial statements.

Political donations
The Group made no political donations during the year.

Employees

The Directors recognise the benefits which arise from keeping employees informed of the Group’s progress and plans and
through their participation in the Group's performance. The Group is therefore committed to providing its employees with
information on a regular basis, to consulting with them on a regular basis so that their views and/or concerns may be considered
in taking decisions which may affect their interesis, and to encouraging their padicipation in schemes through which they will
benefit from the Group's progress and profitability. The Group aims 1o foster a working envirenment in which all employees are
treated with courtesy and respect and seeks at all times to provide opportunities to develop and reach their full potential. The
Group established Sharesave share option schemes for eligible employees in both 2016, 2017 and 2020, details of which can
be found in note 22 along with options remaining on previous schemes. The Beard feels that share ownership among employees
fosters team spirit and motivation and will contribute to the ultimate success of the Group. it is the Group's policy to ensure that
disabled persons are treated fairdy and consistently in terms of recruitment, training, career development and promotion and that
their employment opportunities should be based on a realistic assessment of their aptitudes and abilities. Wherever possible, the
Group will continue the employment of persons who become disabled during the course of their employment through retraining,
acquisition of special aids and/or equipment or the provision of suitable allernative employment. For further information please
see "Qur people” on page 8 in the Strategic Report.

Modemn Slavery Act 2015

The Madem Slavery Act 2015 came into force in October 2015 consolidating legislation surrounding modern slavery and human
trafficking. We have a zeroHolerance approach towards modem slavery or human trafficking across all areas of our business
inctuding in our supply chain and are commitied to acting ethically and with integrity thraughaut all of our dealings.

We aim to work in partnerships with all of our contractors, suppliers and other business partners to ensure that they share and work
towards the same values we hold against slavery and human trafficking.

A full version of our Anti-Slavery and Trafficking Statement can be found on cur website.
Anti-bribery and corruption

The Group maintains a poficy for anti-bribery and cormuption and has a 2ero tolerance towards such activities; and requires
compliance with the laws of the UK, including the Bribery Act 2010 in respect of Group conduct both in the UK and overseas.
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Intemnally we operate a suite of policies that are embedded into our culture and help govemn our activities. Examples of these include:

. Code of Conduct Policy, which sets out the behaviours we expect of our staff when acting for the Group.

s« Recruitment Policy, ail of UK employees are recruited after a robust recruitment process in line with UK employment
laws and are required to undertake appropriate Disclosure and Baming Service checks,

. Whistleblowing Policy, we want staff to feel confident and empowered to raise any issues or concerns and have a
whistleblowing policy in place. Our whistleblowing policy helpline is managed by a thind-party provider, enabling staf to
raise concems about issues of safety or wrongdoing, anonymously if necessary. All such concems received through the
helpiine are sent to the Head of Compliance for review, and to ensure that they are appropriately investigated and
conciuded. The Board is provided with updates on material whistleblowing events as they are reported from time to
time to the Executive Leadership Team.

Business relationships

For further information the Groups business relationships please see “Our suppliers”, “Regulators” and “Commissioners” on
pages 9 to 10 in the Strategic Report. :

Post balance sheet events
Re-financing

On 27 September 2022, the Group was acquired by Amalfi Bidco limited and delisted from the Altemative Investment Market
{'AIM'). Following delisting, the Group’s current bank loans of £322.3m were fully repaid on 8 October 2022 and replaced
with intercompany loans from Armalfi Bidco Limited.

Cyber incident

The Group experienced a cyber incident on 4 January 2023, which had an impact on predominantly Cambian and By the
Bridge operating IT systems. On becoming aware of the cyber-attack, the Group's crisis response was immediately
launched, and its business continuity plans were successfully implemented. There has been no material impact on the
provision of services and the Group believe there is no residual remaining threat as a result of this incident.

The Group is aware of data exfiltration and this is subject to an ocngoing investigation. The Group complied with its notification
obligations under applicable data privacy law including the Information Commissioners Office (ICO). The Group is
cooperating fully with the ICQ's investigation and understands that, if considered appropriate, the ICO has the ability to
Impeose sanctions or a penalty notice, neither of which can be currently foreseen or reliability estimated.

Acquisition of Talk To Me Technologies

In June 2023, Smartbox Holdings acquired Talk To Me Technologies (TTMT), a leading supplier of Augmentative and
Altemmative Communication (AAC). TTMT was founded in 2006 and headquartered in Cedar Falls, lowa. TTMT's produce
line offers twelve AAC solutions including Wego, Zuve and Eyespeak families of communication systems. TTMT is also the
creator of the Zoom, OnWord, QuickStep, and Universal Core vocabulary page sets as well as the Spark Symbol Set library.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, TTMT had $20.7m revenue and $4.9m EBITDA on a US GAAP basis.

Going concern
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate rescurces to continue in operational existence
for at least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements. The Group therefore continues io adopt the

going concem basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Further details are in note 1 to the financial
statements.

Disclosure of information to auditor
The directors confirm that so far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s

auditor is unaware; and the directors have taken all the steps that they ought ta have taken as directors in order to make
themselves aware of any retevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of that information.
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Carbon Emissions

Caretech Holgings Limited (formery CareTech Holdings PLC) recognises that our global operations have an environmental
impact and we are committed ta monitoring and reducing our emissions year-on-year. We are also aware of our reporting
obligations under The Companies (Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report)
Regulations 2018. We continue to report all material GHG emissions across our global operations. i

2021 - 2022 PERFORMANCE

We have continued to calculate our environmental impact acress the required scope 1,2 and 3 {selected categories) emission
sources. On a location basis our emissions are 20,445 tCOe, which is an average of 2.5 tCOze per FTE, and an increase of i
9% from FY2020-21. This increase was driven by scope 1, which saw an increase in fuel use at CareTech sites. This increase

is expected and reflects a retum to normal operations after the COVID-18 pandemic and more accurate granular data being

available in this reporting year. Better quality data has also been captured for refrigerants, where the number of top ups,

indicating leaks, was captured in FY2021-22, increasing the accuracy of this footprint.

Electricity consumption has had a small rise in consumption this year, yet the decarbonisation of the UK grid has resulted in a

decrease in location-based emissions overall. Conversely, market-based emissions have increased due to the increase in

carbon intensity of residual, non-renewable, electricity in the UK market. ‘
We have calculated emission intensity metrics on a per FTE basis, which we will monitor to track performance in our !
subsequent environmental disclosures.

ENERGY AND CARBON ACTICN

in the period covered by the repart, CareTech Holdings PLC has undertaken the following emissions and energy reduction
initiatives: .
. Increased the level of roof insulation at three of our sites, in order to improve the Energy Performance Ratings and
reduce annual carbon emissions.

. Replaced 127 aged diesel vehicles with new more fuel-efficient petrol and diesel vehicles RDE2 compliant vehicles.

2021 - 2022 RESULTS

The methodalogy used to calculate the GHG emissions is in accordance with the requirements of the following standards:
*  World Resources Institute (WRI) Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocal (revised version)
. Defra's Enviranmental Regorting Guidelines: Including Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting requirements
{March 2019).
® UK office emissions have been calcutated using the DEFRA 2022 and EU residual mix factor issue of the
conversion factor repository.
Following an operational contral appreach ta defining cur arganisational boundary, our calculated GHG emissions from

business activities fall within the reporting period of October 2021 to September 2022 and using reporting period of October
2020 to September 2021 for comparisaon.
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" .Tabie 1— Eﬁergy and carbon disclosures for repo::tfﬁg year.

i

! Etectricity and natura) gas consumption have been restated fo!lowmg a review of the estlmatlon approach undertaken in FY2020-21. Thns
has been updated to imprave the accuracy of the reported emissions, : o
2 Due to the identification of a mlscalculatwn other fuels have been restated for F¥2020:21 to reﬂect hlgher data accuracy,
3 Company car and emplovee car mileage have been restated to mclude additional FY2020 21 mﬂeage data which was not avallable at the
time of reportlng : . )
4 To ensure consistency across repomng years, FY2020-21 has been restated to |mprove the accuracv of the emission calculatucns
assoclated non-renéwable electricity consumption. - - - :

S Energy renortmg lncludes kWh from scope 1, scope 2 and scope 3 emplovee cars onlv (as reqwred bv the SECR regulauon}
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Direclors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have
to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006. Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give & true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss of the company and Group for that
period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

— select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
— make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

— state whether applicable UK adopted intemational accounting standards have been followed, subject o any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

- prepare the financial statements on a going concem basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the
Company wilt continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to
ensure that the financial staternents comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the
assels of the Company and hence for taking reasonatle steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors confirm that:
— so far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

— the Directors have taken all the steps that they ought ta have taken as Directors in order to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of that information.

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report in accordance with applicable law and regulatians. Having taken
advice from the Audit Committee, the directors consider the annual repart and the financial statements, taken as a whole,
provides the information necessary to assess the company’s performance, business model and strategy and is fair, balanced
and understandable.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the

Company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legisiation in other jurisdictions,
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of CareTech Holdings
Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financiai statements of CareTech Holdings Limited (the 'parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the
'Group') for the year ended 30 September 2022, which comprise the Consalidated Income Statement, the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Cansolidated Statement of Financial Position, the Cansolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the Company Statement of Financial Position, the Company
Statement of Changes in Equity and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
The financial reporting framewark that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial slatements is applicable law
and UK-adopted infermational accounting standards. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation
of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial
Reporting Standard 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework' applicable in the UK and Republic of lreland (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion:

« the financial statements give a lrue and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent company’s affairs as at 30
Soptambaor 2022 and of the Group’s profit then ended;

« the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards;

= the parent company financial statements have been praperly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice; and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted cur audit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing {UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accerdance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our cpinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We are responsible far concluding on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the group's and the parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our report. However, future events or conditions may cause the group or the parent company to cease to continue
as a going concem. ’

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks associated with the group’s and the parent
company's business mode| including effects arising from macro-economic uncertainties such as Brexit and Covid-19, we
assessed and challenged the reasonableness of estimates made by the directors and the related disclosures and analysed
how those risks might affect the group’s and the parent company’s financial resources or ability to continue operaticns over the
going concem period.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,

individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt an the Group's and the parent company’s ability te continue as a going
concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors” use of the going concem basis of accounting in the
preparation of lhe financial statements is appropriate.

The responsibilities of the directars with respect to going concern are described in the ‘Responsibilities of directors for the
financial statements’ section of this report.

Other infarmation
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, other than the financia! statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not
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cover the other information and, except to lhe extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial stalements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or olherwise appears to be materially misstated. |f we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required 1o determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial stalemenls or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other infermation, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to repart in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

« the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

« the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matter on which we are required 1o report under the Companies Act 2006
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report,

Matters on which we are required to repart by exceplion
We have nothing to report in respect of the foliowing matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us ta report
o you if, in our opinfon:

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, ot retums adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

s the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements

As explained mare fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such intemal contral as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
1a fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the parent company's ability
to continue as a going cancern, disclosing, as applicabte, matters related to going concem and using the going concem basis
of accounting unless the direclors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company ar to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditar's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from malerial
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our apinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists, Misstatements can anse from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financiat statements is located on the Financial Reperting
Council's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, cutlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of imegularities, including fraud. Owing to the
inherant limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that material misstatements in the financial statements may not be
detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs (UK).

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:
« We enquired of management, the finance team and the Board of Directors about the Group's and the parent company’s
policies and procedures relating to the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations and the detection
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and responsé te the risks of fraud and the establishment of intemal controls 1o mitigate risks related to fraud or non-
compliance with laws and regulations;

» Ve obtamned an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Group and the parent
company. We determined that the most significant laws and regulalions are those related to financial reporting and
taxation, being UK-adopted international accounting standards (for the Group), Financial Reparting Standard 101 "Reduced
Disclosure Framework’ (for the parent company), the Companies Act 2006, and the application of local sales and use taxes
and overseas permanent establishments;

« We enquired of management and the Board of Directors whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations and whether they had any knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

« We assessed the susceplibility of the Group’s and the parent company's financial staternents to matarial misstatement,
including how fraud might occur and the risk of management override of controls. Audit procedures performed by the
engagement team included:

— Enquiring of management, the finance team and the Board of Directors about the risks of fraud at the Group and the
parent company and the controls implemented to address those risks. Assessing the design and implementation of
controls relevant to the audit that management has in place to prevent and detect fraud, including updating our
understanding of the intermnal controls over journal entries, including those related to the posting of entries used to
record non-recurring, unusual transactions or other non-routine adjustments;

- Making specific inquiries of each member of the finance team lo ascertain whether they had been subject to undue
pressure or had been asked to make any unusual postings or madifications to reports used in financial reporting;

~  Identifying and testing journal entries, with selection based on risk profiling;

- Running specific keyword searches (including to related parties and cf those previously connected to related entities)
over the journal entry population to identify descriptions that could indicate fraudulent activity or management override
of controls. In addition, journal entries by user were evaluated to identify types of entries posted that were not in line
with expeclations of their rale. Unusual entries noted from these searches were agreed to supporting documentation to
verify the validity of the posling;

- Planning specific procedures responding to the risk of fraudulent recognition of revenue;
- Assessing the disclosures within the annual report, including principal and emerging risks: and
- Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant accounting estimates.

« In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding of the Group's and the parent
company's operations, including the nature of income sources and of their objectives and strategies in order to understand
the classes of transactions, account balances, expected financial statement disclosures and business risks that may result
in risks of material misstatement;

s These audit procedures were designed to provide reasanable assurance that the financial statements were free from fraud
or error. The risk of not detecting 2 material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting
from error and detecting imegularities that result from fraud is inherently more difficult than detecting those that result from
errar, as fraud may involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further
removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements,
the less likely we would become aware of it;

s The engagement pariner's assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the
engagement leam included consideration of the engagement team's understanding of, and practical experience with, audit
engagements of a similar nature and complexity, through appropriate training and participation; and

« Requesting component auditors to identify any instances of non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations which
could give rise to a material misstatement. Communications with the component auditor included specific procedures to be
performed lo address the fraud risk in revenue recognition and management override of controls around joumnal testing,
including the procedures detailed above.

tJse of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matters we are
required lo state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
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accept or assume respansibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work,

for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Crand Thorwdon Uk (1P

Rebecea Eagle

Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Grant Thomton UK LLP
Statutary Auditor, Chartered Accountants
London

26/6/2023
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 30 September 2022

2022 2021
Total Total
Note £000 £000
Revenue 5 510,715 489,119
Costof sales (347,887) {323,410%
Gross profit 162,828 165,709
Other income 1,559 2,692
Administrative expenses (138,871) (88,897)
Operating profit 25,516 79,504
Finance expenses B (16,121) {13,270}
Profit before tax 9,335 66,234
Taxation 9 (2,885) {30,906)
Profit for the year 6,510 35,328
Non-cantrolling interest {4,213) (3,420)
Profit for the year attributable to
equity shareholders of the Parent 2,297 31,908
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 September 2022

2022 2021
Total Tatat
Nate £000 £000
Profit for the year 5,510 35,328
Item that may be subsequently
reclassified to the income statement;
Exchange movements on averseas net
assets 6,655 {424)
Items that will not be reclassified to
income statement:
Exchange movements on averseas net
assets of
non-controlling interests 3,611 {320)
Other comprehensive income for the
year 10,266 (744)
Total comprehensive income for the yaar 16,776 34,584
Non-controlling interest (7.824) (3,100)
Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to owners of the Parent 8,852 31,484
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 September 2022

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Nan-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 637,001 619,482
Right-of-use assets 1 125,276 123,231
Intangible assets 12 162,903 87,032
Goodwill 12 106,088 86,866
Deferred tax asset 19 448 -
871,716 916,611
Current assats
Inventeories 13 6,764 3,468
Trade and other receivables 14 93,121 71,606
Cash and cash equivalents 15 21,258 65,560
127,143 140,634
Total assets 1,098,859 1,057,245
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 80,197 70,011
Lease liabilities . 11 6,516 5,500
Loans and borrowings 17 319,963 -
Deferred consideration payable 8,052 -
Contingent consideration payable - 3616
Deferred income 16 34,662 36,132
Corporation tax 10,243 17,753
459,633 133,012
Nan-current Jiabilities
Loans and borrowings 17 528 319,654
Lease liabilities 11 121,308 118,781
Deferred tax liabilities 19 96,204 93,927
Provisions 20 5,258 5,540
Derivative financial instruments 21 4,994 5,414
228,292 543,316
Total liabilities 687,925 676,328
Net assets 410,934 380,917
Equity
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Share capital 23 575 566
Share premium . 24 138,926 133,551
Shares held by Executive Shared Ownership

Plan 24 - {12,837)
Merger reserve ‘ 24 125,842 125,842
Other components of equity 24 3,659 (371)
Retained eamings 24 114,170 121,619
Total equity attributable to equity

shargholders of the Parent 383,172 368,370
Non-controlling interest 28 27,762 12,547

Total equity 410,934 380,917

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 26™ June 2023 and were
signed on its behalf by:

Farowv Slueitle (lurs Dickinsan

Farouq Sheikh OBE Christopher Dickinson

Group Executive Chairman Group Chief Financial Officer
Company number: 04457287

Caretech Holdings Limited (formery CareTech Holdings PLC) Annual Report and Accounts 2022 26




DocuSign Envelope ID: EB6B549B-6D85-419A-8963-7CAS5898203D0

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
as at 30 September 2022

Shares held
by Execulive Total
Shared Other atgibutable to Non-
Share  Ownership Retained Menger companents owners of the controlling
Share capital premium Plan eamings reserve of equity Parerd interest  Tolal equity
£000 £000 £000 E£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 30 September 2020 565 133,079 (13,305} 107,120 125842 53 353,354 40,862 364,216
Profit for the year - - - 31,908 - - 31,908 3,420 35,328
Other comprehensive income - - - = - (424) (424) (320) (744)
Total comprehensive income - - - 31908 - {424) 31,484 3,100 34,584
Issue of ordinary sharcs
net of transaction costs 1 472 - - - - 473 - 473
Redemption of share aptions - - 458 - - - 468 - 468
Business combinations - - - - - - - 1,450 1,450
Equity-settled share-based
payments’ charge ~ - - 1,373 - - 1,373 - 1,373
Dividends - - - {14,431} - - {14,431y  (2.865) (17,296}
Recognition of liabilities with
non-controlling interest (Note
28) - - - (4,351} - - (4.351) - (4,351}
Transactions with owners
recorded directly in equity* 1 472 458 {17,409} - - (16,468) (1.415) {17,883}
At 30 September 2021 566 133,551 (12,837) 121,619 125842 {371) 368,370 12,547 380,917
Profit for the year - - - 2,297 - - 2,257 4,213 6,510
Other comprehensive income - - - - - 6,655 6,655 3611 10,266
Total eomprehensive income - - - 2,297 - 6,655 8,952 7.824 16,776
Issue of ordinary shares
net of transaction costs 9 5375 - - - - 5,384 - 5,384
Redemption of share options - - 12,837 - - - 12,837 - 12,837
Business combinations (Note 4) - - - - - - - 6,184 6,184
Equity-settled share-based
payments' charge - - - 6,223 - - 6,223 - 6,223
Dividends - - - {15,969} - ~  (15,969) (2,467) (18,436)
Changes in shareholding of
subsidiaries (Note 24) - - - - - {2,625} (2,625) (2,054) (4,679)
Equity contributions by non-
controlling interest - - - - - - - 5,728 5,728
Transactions with owners
recorded directly in equity 9 5,375 12,837 (9,746) - {2,625) 5,850 7,391 13,241
At 30 September 2022 575 138,926 - 114170 125842 3,659 383,172 27,762 410,934
*Restated see note 29
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 September 2022

2022 2021

Note £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 9,385 68,234
Adjustments for:
Financial expenses 8 16,121 13,270
Depreciation 10,11 19,611 19,518
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 13,151 10,273
Sleep-in provision - (11,777)
Gain on bargain purchase - {5,758}
Share-based payments’' charge 22 6,223 1,373
Other non-cash items - 587
Operating cash flows before movement in working capital 64,501 93,721
Increase in inventory {1,678} (651}
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 1,892 {15,953)
Increase in trade and other payables 2,264 12,868
Cash inflows from operating activities 66,979 89,985
Tax paid (8,895) (6,038)
Net cash from operating activities 58,084 83,947
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 833 1,288
Business combinations net of cash acquired 4 (17,099) (5,447)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 10 (31,400) (28,993
Acquisition of software 12 (3,425) {2,938)
Payment of contingent cansideration {3,550) (1,503)
Net cash used in investing activities (54,641) (37,582)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares net of transaction cosls 23 - 941
Bank loan repaid 4 (4,251) -
Repayment of shareholder loans (1,610} -
Cantributions by non-controlling interest 5728 -
Changes in shareholding in subsidiaries (4,679) -
Interest paid (14,028) (12,358)
Loan arrangement fees - (438)
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Principal payment of lease liabilities {5,747) (8.777)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest (2,467) (2,885)
Dividends paid 25 (15,969) (14,431)
Net cash used in from financing activities (43,023) (34,925)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents {39,580) 11,440
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents 1,278 {153)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 October 15 65,560 54,273
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 September 15 27,258 65,560
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Background and basis of preparation

CareTech Holdings Limited {the ‘Group’, ‘Company’, or ‘Parent Company'} is a company registered and domiciled in England
and Wales. The consalidated financial statements of the Company far the year ended 30 September 2022 comprise the
Campany and its subsidiaries {together referred tc as the 'Group’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
pounds sterling, which is the Company’s functional currency, rounded to the nearest thousand. The Parent Company financial
statements on pages 78 10 85 present information about the Company as a separate entity and not about its Group.

The consolidated financial statements were approved for release by the Board of Directors on 26™ June 2023.

Going concern

The Group's business activities tagether with the faclors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are
set out in the Group Executive Chairman's Statement and Strategic Report on pages 3 to 4 and pages 5 to 7 respectively. The
financial statements have been prepared on a going concem basis which the Directors consider to be appropriate for the
following reasons.

The Direclars have a reasanable expectation that the Group has adequate resaurces to cantinue in aperatianal existence for at
least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial staterments. The Group therefore continues to adopt the going concermn
basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements. .

The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for the going concem period to 30 June which is 12 months from the date of
approval of these financial statements, On 7 October 2022, the Group's existing debt facilities were refinanced through new credit
facilities with Ares Management Limited in connection with Amalfi Bidco Limited's acquisition of the Group. The Group will therefore
meet its day to day working capital requirements through its cash reserves, and intercompany bank and shareholder loans, These
forecasts take into account the expectation in relalion to occupancy, fee rates, resident mix, care hours and costs {including
agency), other costs and a full programme of maintenance capital expenditure. In addition, subsequent to year end, a number of
properties have been utilised as part of a sale package, subject to long-term lease agreements. The broceeds generated of
£302.5m have been used to pay, in part, the new credit facilities with Ares Management Limited. The Board has also modelled
several forecasts inclusive of downside sensitivities.

All forecasts, including the downside sensitivities and reverse stress test indicate that the Company will have sufficient cash
resources for the going concem period. In addition, there are a number of discretionary expenditures which could be reduced if
necessary, and sufficient assets on the balance sheet that could be used to raise additional cash if required.

Consequently, the Directors are confident that the Company will have sufficient resources to continue to meet its liabilities as they

fall due for at least 12 maonths from the date of approval of the financial statements and therefore have prepared the financial
statements on a going cancem basis,
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2. Accounting policies
(a) Applicable accounting standards

The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
Group financial statements.

New and amended standards and interpretations effective in the year

Title Subject Effective dale per standard

Amendment to IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ COVID-19 — Related Rent COVID-19 — Related Rent Concessions 1 Aprnil 2021
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 1 January 2021

Issued IFRS not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of thase financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations 1o existing
standards have been published by the IASB but are not yet effective and these have not been applied early by the Group.
Management anticipates that the following pronouncements relevant to the Group’s operation will be adopled in the Group's
accounting policies for the first period beginning after the effeclive date of the pronouncement, once adopted by the EL:

Tille Subject EHective date per standard
Reference to the Conceptual Framework Amendments to IFRS 3 — Outdated reference 1 January 2022
Propenty, Plant and Equipment — (Amendments to IAS 1B) Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022

Onerous Contracts — (Amendments to IAS 37) Cost of fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16, 1AS541 1 January 2022
Amendments to IAS 1, presentation of financial statements on  Narrow scope amendments to IAS1, clarity on 1 January 2024
classification of liabilities classification of liabilities as cumrent or nen-current

'I:Jm%rrgw scope amendments to IAS 1, practice statement 2 and  Improved accounting policy disclosures 1 January 2023
Amendments to IAS 12 deferred lax related to assets and Recognilion of deferred tax on transactions that, en 1 January 2023

liabilities arising from a single transaction initial recognition give rise to equal amounts of

taxable and deductible temporary differences

The Directors expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will not have a material impact on the financial information
of the Group in future reporting periods.

{b) Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepafed on the historical cost basis except that derivative financial instruments are stated at their
fair value and contingent consideration is stated al fair value through profit or foss.

{c) Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consplidate those of the Parent Company and all of its subsidiaries as of 30 September 2022.
All subsidiaries have a reporting date of 30 September, except for AS Investment Holdings Ltd, AS1 Investment Holdings Ltd,
AS2 Investments Holdings Etd, AS3 Investment Holdings Lid, AS4 Investment Holdings Ltd, and their respective operating
enfities in the United Arab Emirates {UAE) {the ‘AS Group'), which has a year end of 31 December as this their stalutory
reporting date. All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised
gains and losses on transactions betwaen Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed
on consoclidation, the underying asset is alsc lested for impairment from a Group perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusled where necessary to ensure consistency with the acceunting palicies adopted by
the Group. Subsidiaries are only consolidated where control exists. Control is determined to exist when the Group has power

Caretech Haldings Limited (formery CareTech Holdings PLC) Annual Report and Accounts 2022 31



DocuSign Envelope 1D: EB6B549B-6D85-419A-8963-7TCASB382D3D0

over the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable retums from its involvement with the investee and the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s retums,

(d} Property, plant and equipment

Praperty, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes
the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a warking condition for their
intended use and capitalised borrowing costs. Purchased software thal is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is
capitalised as part of that equipment.

The cost of replacing an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable
that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow ta the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably.
The camrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are recognised in the profit or loss as incurred,

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of
property, plant and equipment and depreciated separately.

Depreciation is charged to the consotidated income statement over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of
praperty, plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated. The Directors reassess the residual value estimates, particularly in
respect of properties, on an annual basis. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

. buildings 2% straight-line to residual value,
. fixtures, fittings and equipment 15% straight-line; and
. motor vehicles 25% reducing balance.

Assets under construction are not depreciated until they are available for use.

(e) Intangible assets and goodwill

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method as described in note 4. Goodwill represents the
excess of the fair value cf the consideration over the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired on
acquisition of subsidiaries. Identifiable intangibles are those which can be sold separately or which arise from legal rights
regardless of whether those rights are separable.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is aliocated to cash-generating units and is not
ameortised but is tested annually for impairment.

Negative goodwill (bargain purchase credit) arising on an acquisition is recognised immediately in the consolidated income
statement.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are staled at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Expenditure on research activities is recagnised as an expense in the periad in which it is incurred.

Included within software are development costs in relation to software which are capitalised when the related projects meet the
recagnitian criteria of an intemnally generated intangible asset, the key criteria being as follows:

(a) technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
(b} it can be demonstrated that the asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

{c) adeguate technical, financial and other resources are available to complete the development;
(d} the expenditure atiributable to the intangible asset can be reliably measured; and

(e} management has the ability and intention to use or sell the asset.

These projects are designed to enhance the existing software within the Group. Salaries associaled with develecpment time and
directly attributable overheads are capitalised within intangible assets.

Development costs recognised as assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their expected useful life. Development
expenditure is only amortised aver the period the Group is expected to benefit and is subject to annual impairment testing.

The estimated useful life and amartisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Amortisation is charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

. customer refationships 1-20 years;

. brands 10-20 years;

+ intemnally developed software 5 years; and

. software and licences over the life of the contract

(f) Inventories

Inventorles are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventcnes i1s based on a hrst-in hirst-out cost
basis.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with maturities of three manths or less from inception.

{h) Financial instruments

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group beccmes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for
transaction costs (where applicable). Financial liabilities are initizlly measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for
{ransaction costs unless the Group designaled a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent measurement
of financial assets and financial liabililies are described below.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights te the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the
financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished,
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurernent, financial assets are classified into the following categories upon initial
recognition:

. Financial assets at amortised cost.
. Financial assets/iabilities held at fair value through profit or loss {'FVTPL').

FVTPL assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The fair values of
financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where
no active market exists.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets thal are recognised in the consolidated income statement are presented
within finance costs or finance income, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within cther
administrative expenses.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated as
FVTPLY):

« they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows;
and

. the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely paymenis of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised ¢ost using the effective interest method. Discourtling is omitted where
the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group's cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this
cateqory of financial instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business madel other than *hold to callect’ or *hold to collect and sell' are
calegorised at fair value through profit and loss. Further, irespective of business model financial assets whose contractual

Caretech Holdings Limited (formerly CareTech Holdings PLC} Annual Report and Accounts 2022 33



DocuSign Envelope ID: E86B5498-6D85-419A-8963-7CASB982D300

cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall
into this category.

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The fair values of financial
assels in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where no
active market exists.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include borrawings, trade and other payables and derivative financial instruments, Financial
liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for financial liabilities held for
trading or designated at FVTPL, that are camied subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in the consolidated
income statement. All derivative financial instruments that are not designated and effective as hedging instruments are
accounted for at FVTPL.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument's fair value that are reported in consolidated income
statement are included within finance costs or finance income.

From time 1o time, the long-term debt held by the Group are either refinanced as these come to maturity, or the margin on
these facilities moves in line with the ratic of the Group’s net debt to adjusted EBITDA. In either scenario, the Group reviews
whether the debt is accounted for as a modification or an extinguishment of the liability. A substantial modification should be
accounted for as an extinguishment of the existing liability and the recognition of a new liability. A non-substantial modification
should be accounted for as an adjustment to the existing liability. Both the quantitative and qualitative aspects of the
madification are taken into account to ascertain whether the modification is substantial and these can include the change in
covenants, repayment dates and the effective interest rate. If modification accounting is adopted, the carrying value of the
gxisting liability is adjusted for fees paid or costs incurred and the effective interest rate is amended at the modification date. If
extinguishment accounting is adopted, the existing liability is de-recognised and the new or madified liability is recognised at its
fair value, the gain or loss equal to the difference between the carrying value of the old liability and the fair value of the new one
is recognised, any incremental costs or fees incurred and any consideration paid or received is recognised in profit or loss and
a new effective interest rate for the madified liability is calculated and used in future periods.

Derivative financial instruments

From time to time, the Group enters into dervative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to manage its exposure
to interest rate risk. The Group also enters into put and catl optiens on certain acquisitions.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at each balance sheet date. A derivative with a positive fair value is recegnised as a financial asset whereas a
derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial kability. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the
consolidated income staternent immediately. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or non-current liability if the
Group has an unconditional right to defer payment beyond 12 months. Otherwise, derivatives are presented as current assets
or liabifities.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss
altowance far all trade receivables and contract assets.

Trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based an shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due in
arder to measure expected credit losses. Contract assels related to unbilled work in progress have subsiantially the same risk

characteristics as trade receivables for the same type of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss

rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for contract assets.

The expecled loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 48 months and before 30 September 2021
and 30 September 2022 respeciively as well as the comespondingly historical credit losses during that pericd. The historical
rales are adjusted o reflect current and forward-looking macroecenomic factors affecting the customer's ability to settle the
amaunt outstanding. Expected credit losses are calculated in accordance with the simplified approach permitted by iIFRS 9,
using a provision matrix applying lifetime historical credit loss experience to the trade receivables. The expected credit loss rate
varies depending on whether, and the extent to which, settlement of the trade receivables is overdue and it is also adjusted as
appropriate to reflect current ecanomic conditions and estimates of fulure conditions. For the purpose of determining credit loss
rates, customers are ciassified into groupings that have similar loss pattemns. The key driver of the loss rate is the type of
customer. The vast majarity of the Group's customers are state-owned entities such as local authorities. As such, credit loss is
not expected to increase significantly since initial recognition.
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(i) Impairment (excluding deferred tax assets)

The canrying amounts of the Group's assets are reviewad at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. if any such indication exisls, the asset's recoverable amaount is estimated.

Fer gaodwill and assets that have an indefinite useful life, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date. For
goodwill and assets which are not amontised or depreciated, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement,

Impainment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the cammying amount of any
goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata
basis. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assels.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Far an asset that does not generale largely
independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. This
includes right-of-use assets, which cannot be operated independently.

Reversals of impairment

An impairnent loss is reversed if the subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. Any impaimment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

In respect of other assels, an impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer
exist or there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the camying amount that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. '

{j) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair vatue less directly attributahle transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between proceeds (net of transaclion
costs) and the redemption value being recognised in the consolidated income statement over the period of the borrowings on
an effective interest basis.

Borrowings are classified as current fiabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the reporting date,

Interest on qualifying assets is capitalised in accordance with IAS 23 borrowing costs. Refer 1o note 10.

(k) Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

Obligations for contrbutions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income
statement as incurred.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided. A provision is recognised for the amount expected ta be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plang if
the Group has a gresent legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee
and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Share-based payment transactions

The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the employees become uncanditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the
options granted is measured using an oplicn valuation model {Black-Scholes valuation model), taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted, The amount recognised on exercise as an expense is adjusted to take
into account an estimate of the number of shares that are expected to vest as well as to reflect the actual number of share
options that vest, except where forfeiture is due only to share prices not achieving the thresheld for vesting. Options lapsed are
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expunged from the relevant scheme. In the event of aptions cancelled or settled during the vesting period, the charge is
recognised immediately for the amount that otherwise would have been recognised for services received over the remainder of
the vesting period.

Employee Benefit Trust

The assets and liabilities of the Employee Benefit Trust {'EBT') have been included in the consolidated financial statements.
Any assets held by the EBT cease to be recognised on the consolidated balance sheet when the assets vest unconditionally in
identified beneficiaries.

The costs of purchasing own shares held by the EBT are shown as a deduction against equity. The proceeds from the sale of
own shares held increased equity. Neither the purchase nor sale of own shares leads to a gain or loss being recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

(I) Provisions

A provision, other than provisions for deferred taxation, is recognised in the balance sheel where a reliable estimate can be
made when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 2 past event, and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by
discounting the expected, risk adjusted, and future cash flows at a pre-tax risk-free rate.

(m) Revenue

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based approach to the recognition of revenue from all contracts with customers. i focuses
on the identification of performance obligations in a cartract and requires revenue ta be recognised either at a point in time or
over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies perfformance obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its
customers.

Revenue arises mainly from the provision of care and educational services to vulnerable adults and children, fostering and the
sale of hardware and software.

income which has been invoiced but imecoverable is treated as a bad debt expense. Revenue invoiced in advance is included
in deferred revenue untii the service is provided. Revenue is recagnised ret of VAT and credit notes.

Care services

Revenue from the sale of care services provided to vulnerable adults and children is recognised as the services are provided.
Care services are consumed as socn as they are provided and perforrnance obligations are satisfied when services are
rendered to the client. There are no significant financing components and invoice payment terms are typically 30 days.

Our contracts provide that the Group is entitled to consideration based on the amount of care services delivered (for example
number of days' worth of care delivered in the period) and an agreed rate. On this basis, the Group have applied the practical
expedient set out in IFRS 15 para 121, There are no significant judgements used in the recognition of revenue.

Revenue in respect of the provision of care services is measured as the fair value of fee income received or receivable in
respect of the services provided and is recagnised in respect of the care that has been provided in the relevant period. Any
additional services provided by the Group are recagnised as the services are provided.

Educational services

Revenue in respect of educational services is recognised when the young person is in school, over the academic year, as this
is when the service user is receiving the educational services.

Consideration is determined by the contractually agreed amount for each placement with payment for each term typically
received in advance.

Fostering services

For Faster Care, the Group is acting as a principal as contracts are between the Group and local authorilies and separately
between the Group and foster carers with a number of performance conditions attached to each.

foster Care revenue is recognised on the basis of the daily placements made with a full day's revenue recegnised for every
night a placement is with a fosler carer at an agreed rate.
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Hardware and software

Revenue from the sale of hardware and software far a fixed fee is recognised when or as the Group transfers control of the
assets to the customer. Invoices far goods or services transferred are due upon receipt by the customer, payment terms are
typically 30 days. Control transfers at the point in time the customer takes undisputed delivery of the goods.

The Group provides a one- or two-year manufacturer's warranty (extended by cur suppliers) on hardware products.
Communication devices manufactured by Smartbox are sold with a Smart Care extended warranty. Under the termns of the
warranty customers can return the praduct for repair or replacement if it fails to perform in accordance with published
specifications. These warranties are accounted for under IAS 37.

The Group sells monthly software subscriptions and perpetual licences. For sales of software the licence period commences
upon delivery.

Contract assets and liabilities/accrued and deferred income

The Group recognises contract liabilities for consideralion received in respect of unsatisfied perfomance cbligations and
reports these amounts as deferred income in the balance sheet (see note 16). An example of this is where the Group will
invoice in advance for education services, This is held in deferred income until the service has been provided.

Similarly, the Group recognises a contract asset where a contract has been agreed with a customer and a service user has
been admitted to our facilities but no sales invoice has been issued, This is disclosed as accrued income.

The Group will estimate the accrued income using the agreed contractual rate and the number of days where the service user
was receiving care from the Group.

{p) Expenses

Financing costs

Financing costs, comprising interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts, finance charges on finance leases, the unwinding of
the discount on provisions and the costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings are recognised in the
consolidated income statement using the effective interest method.

Interest payable is recagnised in the consolidated income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method.
Financing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset,

Financing costs alsa include losses arising on the change in fair value of derivatives that are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

(q) Leased assets

The Group as a lessee

For any new contracts entered into, the Group considers whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A lease is defined as 'a
contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for
consideration’. To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are:

. Contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the cantract or implicilly specified by bemg
identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group.

. Group has the right to obtain substantially alt of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the
period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract.

« Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The Group assesses whether it
has the right to direct *how and for what purpose' the asset is usad throughout the pericd of use.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The right-
of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs
incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to restare the asset at the end of the lease to its original condition, and any
lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date Lo the earlier of the
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-cf-use asset for
impairment when such indicators exist.
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At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease lability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the ease if that rate is readily available or the Group's incremental borrowing
rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in substance
fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and
payments arising frorn options reasonably certain to be exercised.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is re-measured
to reflect any reassessment or madification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.

When the lease liability is re-measured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if
the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients. Instead
of recognising a right-of-uUse asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss on a straight-ling basis over the lease term.

On the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities have been disclosed separately.

(r) Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates and laws enacted or, substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not pravided for: the initial
recagnition of gaodwill; the initial recognition of assels or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in
a business combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The amount of deferrad tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities, using tax rates and laws enacled or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. A deferred tax asset
is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised. The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date.

(s) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration transferred by the Group
to obtain contral of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred, liabilities
incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the fair value of any asset or liability arising from a
contingent consideration arrangement. The calculation of contingent consideration is based on the provisions included in the
sale and purchase agreement of each acquisition and is updated if circumstances change. Acquisition costs are expensed as
incurred. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at their acquisition-date fair values. The Group recognises rnon-
controlling interests in an acquired entity at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquired entity’s nel
identifiable assets.

{t) Government grants

Government grants are recognised only when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with any conditions
attached to the grant and the grant will be received. The grants are recognised as income over the period necessary to malch
themn with the related costs, for which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. A grant receivable as
compensation far costs already incurred or for immediate financial support, with no future related caosts, is recognised as
income in the period in which it is receivable.

3. Accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management {o make judgements, estimates and
assumptions which affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

In the process of applying the Group's accounting palicies, the Directors have made the following estimates and judgements
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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Estimates

Estimates and undetying assumplions are reviewed on an ongaing basis. Revisions tc accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Goodwill

The Group annually tests whether there is any impairment in goodwill, in accordance with the accounting policy outlined in note
12. Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires comparison of the value in use for the relevant CGUs to the assels
attributable to these CGUs, The value-in-use calculation is based on an estimate of future cash flows expected to arise from the
CGUs and these are discounted to net present value using an appropnale discount rate. |n calculating value In use,
management judgement is required in forecasting cash flows of cash-generaling units, in determining terminal growth values
and in calculating an appropriate discount rate. The goodwill impairment lest is sensitive to these estimates. The Group has
performed sensitivity analysis over the value-in-use calculation with respect to the key estimates. The discount rates applied in
these calculations are disclosed in note 12,

Judgements

Capitalised development costs

Capitalisation of development costs within software and licences requires the Directors to make judgements in allocating staff
time appropriately to relevant projects and in assessing the technical feasibility and economic potential of those projects as well
as forecasts for the useful economic life of each asset have been used. The useful economit life of development cosis is
determined to be five years.

CareTech Charitable Foundation

Judgement is required in determining whether the Group has contro of the CareTech Charitable Foundation {the 'Foundation’).
In assessing control, the Group has assessed whether it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement in
the Foundation. Consideratian has been given to the fact the Group cannot directly appaint or remove a Trustee but can
remove a memper and veta the appointment of a new member. The membership of the charitable company is restricted to the
independent Trustees and relevant activities of the charity governed by the Board of Trustees. Given the majority of the
Trustees are Group employees, an assessment has been made as to whether the Group employees are able to exercise
control and therefore generate variable returns.

The Foundation's Trustees owe very strict legal duties under the Charity Commission to act as fiduciaries and each Trustee
must act independent of its own interest or indeed anyone else’s save for those of the charity. Based cn these legal duties, the
Directors have used their judgement that a Foundation Trustee could not act on behalf of a third party if acting in compliance
with their duties and how the law permits and therefore the Group does not control the Foundation.
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4. Business combinations
(a) Acquisition of REHAVISTA

On the 29 November 2021, the Group acquired a 100% holding in REHAVISTA GmbH and its subsidiary LogBUK (Collectively
“REHAVISTA") Gemnany's largest provider of augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) products and services,
employing over 170 staff. The company, which has six offices acrass Germany, provides a range of AAC and assistive technology
products and has a strong reputation for excellent service. LogBUK is a subsidiary company to REHAVISTA, providing
independent speech and language therapy to help AAC users achieve the best outcomes through specialist clinical support,

REHAVISTA's reach and expertise is unparalleled in Germany, estimated to be the second largest funded AAC market globally

after the USA, With its deep knowledge of assistive technology and established routes to market, this acquisition provides a
significant oppartunity for the Group to expand the products and services available in Germany,

The acquisition table is as follows:

Fair value

Book values adjustments Total

£000s £000s £000s

intangible assets 24 839 863
Goodwill 3 31) -
Property plant & equipment 471 - 471
Right-of-use asséet 800 - 800
Trade and other receivables ‘ 1,488 (131) 1,357
Inventory 1,466 - 1,466
Cash 175 - 175
Corporation tax (61) - (61)
Deferred tax - (268) (268)
Trade and other payables (1,8486) - (1,848)
Lease liability (900} - (900)
Loans and other borrowings (578} - {578}
Net assets on acquisition 1470 409 1,579
Consideration paid 8,573
Goodwill 6,994
Consideration paid was; £000
Cash 8,295
Deferred consideration 278
Total cansideration 8,573
Reconciliation to the cash flow statement £000
Cash paid ‘ 8,295
Cash acquired (175)
Payments for business combination net of cash acquired 8,120

Goodwill arises as a result the surplus of consideration over the fair value of the separately identifiable assets acquired.
Costs relating to this acquisition are expensed in the Income Statement in accordance with IFRS3.

Goodwill is aftributable to the future economic benefits arising from assets which are not capable of being individually identified
and separately recognised, these include value of the assembled workforce within the business acquired. Other intangible
assets acquired relate to the REHAVISTA trade name.

Costs relating to this acquisition of £55k have been expensed in the Income Statement in accordance with IFRS3 and included
in administrative expenses.
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Judgement is required in determining the fair value adjustments as part of business combinations and for the fair value of
intangible assets a third-party specialist has been engaged, An intangible asset relating 1o trade name £0.8m was recognised
an acquisition. A respective deferred tax liability of £0.3m was raised.

REMAVISTA contributed revenue of £12.1m and a lass of £0.6m lo the Group's profit after tax for the year between the date of
acquisition and the balance sheet date. Had the acquisition of REHAVISTA occumred from the first day of the year, the Groups
revenue would be higher by £2.4m and profit before tax fower by £0.2m.

(b) Acquisition of Dmetco-Bayti

On 4 February 2022, the Group completed two further acquisitions in the United Arab Emirates (UAE), Wellness Center
(‘Wellness') and Dmetco-Bayti Group ('Dmetco’).

Dmetco-Bayti is a well-established home healthcare pravider managing the daily health and social care needs of its patients
across the UAE through two home-grown brands, namely Dmetco Home Healthcare and Bayli Home Healthcare. Established in
2012, it provides home healthcare and physiotherapy services in the emirate of Abu Dhabi, primarily to UAE nationals, through
a team of over 150 registered healthcare professionals. Dmetco-Bayli also caters to patients who require physiotherapy and
rehabilitation services. The estimated patient size for in-home health and sccial care services in the UAE is 10,000, with Dmetco-
Bayti currently managing 120 individuals.

AS Group has acquired a 70% interest in Dmelco-Bayti paying upfront consideration of £7.3m in cash with a further £3,2m in
cash deferred and £0.6m in cash payable through an earn-ocut mechanism. The Group expects the eam-out to be paid over 3
two-year pericd from the date of completion and has valued the contingent consideration at the fair value on acquisition date.
The expected range of the amaount payable is between £0 to £1.0m. The transaction has been funded by the Group's exisling
cash resources and debt facility.

The acquisition table for Dmetco-Bayti is as follows:

Fair value
Book values adjustments Total
£000s £000s £000s
Intangible assets - 7.166 7,166
Property plant & equipment 91 - a1
Trade and other receivables 1,226 (86) 1,140
Cash 1,150 - 1,180
Trade and other payables (746) - (746)
Loans and other barrowings (707) - {707y
Net assets on acquisition 1,014 7,080 8,004
Less: Non-controlling interest (2,429)
5,665
Consideration paid 11,116
Goodwill 5,451
Consideration paid
Cash 7.256
Deferred consideration 3,237
Contingent consideration 623
Total consideration 11,116
Cash paid 7,256
Cash acquired {1,150}
Payments for business combination net of
cash acquired 6,106

Goodwill arises as a result the surpius of consideration over the fair value of the separately identifiable assets acquired,

Costs relating to the Dmetco and Wellness acquisitions of £404k have been expensed in the Income Statement in accordance
with IFRS3 and included in administrative expenses.

Goodwill is attributable to the future economic benefils arising from assets which are not capable of being individually identified
and separately recognised, these include value of the assembled workforce within the business acquired. Other intangible
assets acquired comprise customer refatienships and the Dmetco-Bayti trade name.
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Judgement is required in determining the fair value adjustments as part of business combinations and for the fair value of

intangible assets a third-party specialist has been engaged. Intangible assets of £7.2m were recagnised on acquisition related

to customer relationships, £6.4m and trade name, £0.8m.

Dmetco-Bayti contributed revenue of £5.6m and £03.1m to the Group’s profit after tax for the year between the date of

acquisition and the balance sheet date. Had the acquisition of Dmetco-Bayti occurred from the first day of the year, the Groups

revenue would be higher by £2.8m and profit before tax higher by £0.1m.

(¢} Acquisition of Wellness Group

Established in 2015 by Shafqat Malik, co-founder and CEO of AS Group, the Abu Dhabi-based Weliness Group provides
integrated physical health consultations and surgical services serving ¢.7000 patients per month. The Weliness Group's
operations are an integral part of the founders’ vision to provide a continuum of care for AS Group's mental healthcare patients
through quality day care, GP and other specialist services. Over 72% of the Groups' revenues are backed by health insurance

schemes.

CareTech has acquired a 51% interest in the Wellness Group and has paid an upfront consideration of £3.8m in cash with a
further £3.4m in cash deferred and £0.5m in cash contingent. An additional £4.3m was paid in cash to settle the existing bank
loans of Wellness. The Group expects contingent consideration to be paid over a two-year period from the date of completion.
The expected range of the amount payable is between £0 to £0.5m. The transaction has been funded by the Group's existing

cash resources and debt facility.

The acquisition table for Wellness is as follows:

Fair value
Book values adjustments Total
£000s £000s £0005
Intangible assets - 10,185 10,185
Property plant & equipment 1,025 - 1,025
Right-of-use asset 1590 - 150
Trade and other receivables 2,104 (73) 2,031
Irventories 152 - 152
Cash 884 - B84
Trade and other payables (2,227) - (2,227)
Lease liability {241} - (241)
Loans and other borrowings (4,251) - (4,251}
Net assets on acquisition (2,404} 10,112 7,708
Less: Non-controlling interest {3,740)
3,968
Caonsideration paid 7,655
Goodwill 3.687
Consideration paid
Cash 3,757
Deferred consideration 3,405
Contingent consideration 493
Total consideration 7,655
Cash paid 3,757
Cash acquired (884)
Paymenits for business combination net of
cash acquired 2,873

Goodwill arises as a result the surplus of consideration over the fair value of the separately identifiable assets acquired.

Costs relating to the Dmetco and Wellness acquisitions of £404k have been expensed in the Income Statement in accordance

with IFRS3 and included in administrative expenses.
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Gaoaduwill is attributable to the future economic benefits arising fram assets which are nat capable of being individually identified
and separately recognised, these include value of the assembled workforce within the business acquired. Other intangible
assets acquired romprise custamer relationships and the Wellness trade name.

Judgement is required in determining the fair value adjustments as part of business combinations and for the fair value of
intangible assets a third-party specialist has been engaged. Intangible assets of £10.1m were recognised on acquisition related
to customer relationships, £9.3m and trade name, £56.8m.

The Wellness Group contributed revenue of £8.1m and £1.2m to the Group's profit afier tax for the year between the date of
acquisition and the balance sheet date, Had the acquisition of Wellness group occurred from the first day of the year, the
Groups revenue would be higher by £4.1m and profit before tax higher by £0.5m.

{d) Acquisition of Talk To Me Technologies

In June 2023, Smarthox Holdings acquired Talk To Me Technolagies (TTMT), a leading supplier of Augmentative and
Alternative Communication (AAC). TTMT was founded in 2006 and headquartered in Cedar Falls, lowa. TTMT's produce line
offers twelve AAC salutions inclyding Wego, Zuvo and Eyespeak families of communication systems. TTMT is also the creator
of the Zoom, OnWord, QuickStep, and Universal Core vocabulary page sets as well as the Spark Symbol Set library. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, TTMT had $20.7m revenue and $4.9m EBITDA on a US GAAP basis.

5. Revenue
Revenue is analysed by class of business as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Carea services 483,232 476,187
Digital technology 27,483 12,932
Total 510,715 489,119

Operations of the Group are primarily carried out in the UK, the Company's country of domicile. The AS Group, registered in
the (‘UAE') has generated revenue in the UAE of £44.5m (2021: £25.1m), in addition revenue by the Smartbox Group has been
generated in Europe of £16.8m (2021: £4.5m), North and Central America of £3.6m (2021: £2.1m}, Australasia of £0.8m
(2021:£0.6m), and Middle East and Africa of £1.1m (2021: £0.7m). All other revenues arise within the UK.

6. Operating profit :
Operating profit for the year is stated after charging:

2022 201

£000 £000
Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates for the audit of the consolidated Parent and
Parent Company’s ahnual accounts 685 ) 554
Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates for the audit of the accounts of subsidiaries 61 52
Audit related assurance services 33 30
Agency cosis 28,530 18,313
Foster parent pay - 17,262 19,385
Delisting costs 15,161 -
Repairs and maintenance 4,908 5578
Covid-19 expenses 5,811 4,220
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7. Staff numbers and costs ,
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Directors) during the year, analysed by category, was as

follows:
Number of employees
2022 2021
Operational and service delivery staff : 10,427 10,144
Maintenance 153 19
Management and administration 893 787
11,473 11,050
The aggregate employee costs of these persons (including Directars) were as follows:
2022 2021
£000 £000
Wages and salaries 268,779 256,443
Share-based payments’' charge* 6,223 1,376
Social security costs 23,496 21,586
QOther pension costs 5,747 5,693
304,245 285,098
*  Share-based payments’ charge includes £1,040,000 (2021: £473,000) which relates to the Executive Share Ownership
Scheme, the Sharesave Scheme 2017 and the Approved Share Option Plan 2015, and £5, 183,000 {2021: £902,000) relating 1o
the Long-Tem Incentive Plan.
The aggregate payroll costs of the Group's Directors were as follows:
2022 2021
£000 £000
Wages and salares 4,243 2,425
Benefils 217 280
Other pengion costs 178 150
4,638 2,855

Emoluments of the highest paid director were £1,602k (2021: £1,116k), which includes contributions of £nil (2021: £nil) to a

defined contribution pension scheme. There were no other benefits owed to Girectars at year end (2021: £nil}. All four directors

including the highest paid director exercised share options (2021: ncne).

Past employment benefits are accruing for no directors (2021: one) under a defined contribution pension scheme.
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8. Finance expenses

2022 2021
£000 £000

Interest expense on financial liabilities at amortised cost:
On bank lcans and overdrafts 11,336 8,236
Finance charges in respect of leases 4,237 3,822
Ceivative luancial insb umenls oz o4
Ground rent fease imputed interest 486 466
Interest on contingent consideration - 582
Total finance expenses 16,121 13,270
9. Taxation
{a) Recognised in the consolidated income statement

2022 2021

£000 £000
Current tax income/{expense)
Current year (2,052} {9,581)
Prior year adjustments 728 505
Total current tax (1,324} {9,076)
Deferred tax expense
Current year {1,604} (21,408)
Prior year adjusiments 43 (424)
Total deferred tax {1.561) (21,830}
Total tax in the consolidated income statement {2,885) (30,906)
(b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate

2022 2021

£000 £000
Profit befare tax for the year - 9,395 66,234
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% (2021: 19.0%) 1,785 12,584
Non-deductible expenses including impairment charge 2,998 1,624
Incorme not taxable (184) (3,866)
Other tax adjustments 433 (729)
Capital allowances super deduction (686} (443)
Effect of overseas tax rates (982) (553)
Change in tax rate 292 22,077
Current tax prior year adjustments (728} {294)
Deferred tax prior year adjustments (43} 506
Total tax in the consolidated income statement 2,885 30,906
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10. Property, plant and equipment

Motar
Land and buildings Fixtures, fittings and vehicles Total
£000 equipment £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 Octaber 2020 575,189 62,028 9,442 646,659
Acquisilions through business combinations 440 | - - 440
Additions 12,909 16,222 - 29,131
Disposals (788) {146} {2,939) (3,873)
At 30 September 2021 587,750 78,104 6,503 672,357
At 1 October 2021 587,750 78,104 6,503 672,357
Acquisitions through business combinations - 1,579 - 1,579
Additions 12,787 18,207 - 30,994
Reclassifications - (2,979} - (2,979)
Disposals (437) (34,568) {1,452) {36,457)
At 30 September 2022 600,100 60,343 5,051 665,494
Depreciation and impairment
At 1 October 2020 9,114 26,629 6,820 42,563
Depreciation charge for the year 1,228 10,095 1,161 12,484
Disposals (82) {243} (1,847) 2,172)
At 30 September 2021 10,260 36,481 8,134 52,875
At 1 October 2021 10,260 36,461 6,134 52,875
Depreciation charge for the year 1,160 10,888 3 12,052
Recfassifications -~ (771} - (771)
Disposals {153 (34,541) (1,407) {35,663)
At 30 September 2022 11,405 12,058 5,030 28,433
Net book value
At 30 September 2021 577,490 41,623 369 619,482
At 30 September 2022 588,695 48,285 21 637,001

Included in the result for the year is a profit of £19,000 (2021: £242,000) an the disposal of freehold property, plant and

equipment, and motor vehicles.

The market value of land and building held at 30 September 2022 was £830m of which £468m is held as security for
borrowings.

There were assets under construction to the value of £8.6m (2021: £14.3m) at year end.

On 1 October 2021 tangible assets with a net bock value to the amount of £2.2m has been reclassified to intangible assets.
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11. Leases
Right-of-use assets

Mator Totai
Land and buildings vehicles Equipment right-of-use assets
£000 £000 £000 E£QDD
Gross camying amount
Balance 1 Qctoher 2020 85,034 8,115 698 93,847
Additions 40,079 2,397 - 42,476
Balance at 30 September 2021 125,113 10,512 698 136,323
Balance 1 October 2021 125,113 10,512 698 136,323
Additions 6,249 3,000 355 9,604
Balance at 30 September 2022 131,362 13,512 1,053 145,927
Depreciation and impairment
Balance 1 Octaher 2020 3,686 2,027 344 6,057
Depreciation 4,746 1,948 341 7.035
Balance at 30 September 2021 8,432 3,975 685 13,092
Balance 1 October 2021 8,432 3,975 685 13,082
Depreciation 5,281 2,158 120 7.559
Balance at 30 September 2022 13,713 6,133 805 20,651
Net book value
Carrying amount 30 September 2021 116,681 6,537 13 123,231
Carrying amount 30 September 2022 117,649 7,379 248 125,276
The right-of-use assets are included in the same line item as where the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if
they were owned.
Lease liability
Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:
2022 2021
£000 . EQ00
Current 6,516 5,500
Non-cumrent 121,308 118,781
127,824 124,281

The Group has leases for land and buildings, motar vehicles and office equipment. With the exception of short-term leases and
leases of low-value underlying assets, each lease is reflected on the balance sheet ag a right-of-use assel and a lease liability.
The Group classifies its right-of-use assets in a consistent manner 1o its property, piant and equipment.

Each lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the Group to sublet the asset tc another
party, the right-of-use asset can only be used by the Group. Leases are either non-cancellable or may anly be cancelled by
incurring a substantive termination fee. Some leases contain an oplion to purchase the underlying leased asset cutright at the

Caretech Holdings Limited (formerly CareTech Holdings PLC) Annual Report and Accounts 2022 47



DocuSign Envelope ID: ES6B549B-6D85-419A-8963-7CA5B982D3D0

end of the lease, or to extend the lease for a further 1erm. Leases which contain an option 1a purchase for a peppercarn rate or
an aption ta extent have been included in line with the accounting policy in the measurement of the liability and are not
considered a significant judgement. The Group is prohibited from selling or pledging the underying leased assets as security.
For leases over land and buildings the Group must keep those properties in @ good state of repair and retum the properties in
their original condition at the end of the lease. Further, the Group must insure items of property, plant and equipment and incur
maintenance fees on such items in accordance with the lease contracts.

The lease liabilities are secured by the related underlying assets. Future minimum lease payments at 30 September 2022 were

as follows:

Within 1-2 2-3 34 4-5 After

1 year years years years years 5 years Total
30 September 2022
Lease payments 10,933 10,111 8,514 7,115 6,709 389,233 432,615
Finance charges (4,417) {4,131) {3,895) (3,739) (3,625} {284,984) {304,791)
Net present values 6,516 5,980 4,619 3,376 3,084 104,249 127,824
30 September 2021
Lease payments 9,565 9,511 7.815 6,767 6,474 392,069 432,201
Finance charges (4,065} (3,895) (3.741) {3,742) (3,642) (288,835) (307,920)
Net present values 5,500 5616 4,074 3,025 2,832 103,234 124,281

Lease payments not recognised as a liability

The Group has elected not to recognise a lease liability for shortterm leases (leases with an expected temn of 12 months or
less) or for leases of low-value assets. Payments made under such leases are expensed on a straight-line basis. In addition,
certain vanable lease payments are not permitted to be recognised as lease liabilities and are expensed as incurred.

interest expense on lease liabilities for the year ended 30 September 2022 was £4,237,000 (2021: £3,510,000).

The expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability is as follows:

2022 2021

£000 £000

Short-term leases 2,391 2,541
Leases of low-value assets ’ 50 11
2,441 2,552

*Restated see note 29

At 30 September 2022 the Group was committed to short-term leases and the total commitment at that date was £407,000
(2021: £517,000).

Total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 30 September 2022 was £12,943,000 (2021; £12,712,000%).

*Restaled see note 29
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12, Intangible assets

Software and Customer )
Gooawill licences relationships Technalogy Brands lotal
EQDD £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 October 2020 86,632 25,434 121,191 - - 233,257
Acquisitions through business combinations 3,468 - 7,428 3,393 63 15,251
Exchange adjustments (194) - (430} - - (624)
Additions for the year - 2,868 - - - 2,868
Adjustments* (1,012) - - - - {1.012)
At 30 September 2021 88,894 28,302 128,189 3,393 963 249,740
At 1 October 2021 88,894 28,302 128,189 3,393 963 249,740
Acquisitions through business combinations 16,125 - 15,743 - 2,447 34,315
Exchange adjustments 3,097 — 5179 - - 8,276
Reclassifications - 2,879 - - - 2,979
Additions far the year - 3,445 - - - 3,445
At 30 Septernber 2022 108,116 34,726 148,111 3,393 3,410 298,755
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 Oclober 2020 2,028 18,707 44 834 - - 65,569
Amortisation charge for the year - 3,265 6,232 679 97 10,273
At 30 September 2021 2,028 21,972 51,067 678 a7 75,842
At 1 October 2021 2,028 21,972 51,067 679 97 75,842
Rectassifications — 77 - - - 7
Amortisation charge for the year - 5,796 6,353 679 323 13,151
At 30 September 2022 2,028 28,539 57,420 1,358 420 89,764
Net book value
At 30 September 2021 86,866 6,330 77122 2,714 866 173,898
At 30 Septembgr 2022 106,088 6,187 91,691 2,035 2,990 208,991

On 1 October 2021 tangible assets with a net book value to the amount of £2.2 been reclassified to intangible assets.

Development casts amounting to £411k during the year have been capitalised to software (2021: £546k) with associated
amontisation costs of £177k (2021: £31k). Research costs expensed in line with the accounting policy amounted to £43k (2021:
£95k).

* Adjustments relate to certain investments which historically have been included within goodwill. In the prior year these have
been reclassified and ullimately impaired in full.
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Amortisation

The amortisation charge is recognised in the following line items in the consolidated income statement:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Administrative expenses 13,151 10,273

Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill

The Group tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis by considering the recoverable amount of individual cash-
generating units ((CGUs'") against carrying value.

Far the purpose of annual impairment testing, goodwill is allocated into five identifiable CGUs: Adulls Services, Children's
Services, Foster Care, Middle East and Digital Technolagy. This broadly aligns to the reported operating segments expected to
benefit from the synergies of the business combinations in which the goodwill arises, with exception to Middie East. Whilst
Middle East performs Adults Services and Children’s Services, given its geographical location, it has been identified as a
separate CGU. This is the lowes! level at which goodwill is monitored for impairment by management. There are no intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives {other than goodwill).

The camrying value of goodwill is split between the following cash-generating units:

2022 2021

£000 £000

Adults Services 27,438 27,271
Children’s Services 44,769 44,769
Foster Care ) 7.162 7,162
Middie East 16,027 4,196
Digital Technology 10,692 3,468
106,088 86,866

During the year the Group carried out a review of the recaverable amount of its goodwill throughout the business. The
recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less cost to sell and the value in use, has been determined initially based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections for operational assets at the balance sheet date
based on financial budgets approved by the Board of Directors for the forthcoming year (year ended 30 September 2023) which
are based on assumnptions of the business, industry and economic growth. The approved budgets for the year ended 30
September 2023 are extrapolated using the 2 to § year growth rate, and then into perpetuity using the long-term growth rate
which does not exceed the expected long-term economic growth rate.

The key assumptions for the pericd over which management approved forecasts are based and, beyond this, for the value-in-
use caleulations overall, are those regarding discount rates, growth and occupancy rates, achievement of future revenues and
expected changes in direct costs during the periods. Management estimates discount rates using pre-lax rates that reflect the
market assessment of the time value of money as at each balance sheet date, adjusted for the risks specific to the CGU,

In arriving at the values assigned lo each key assumption management make reference to past experience and external
sources of infarmation regarding the future — for example changes in tax rates. The key features of these calculations are
shown below:
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2022 2021
Period aver which management approved forecasts are based - All 1 year 1 year
Adults Services, Children’s Services, Foster Care and Digital Technology
Two-to-five-year grawth rate 4.0% 3.5%
Long-term growth rate 2.5% 2.5%
Middle East
Two-to-five-year growth rate 2.5% 3.5%
Long-term growth rate 2.0% 2.5%
Pre-tax discount rate
Adult Services 9.1% 8.6%
Children's Services 10.4% 10.0%
Foster Care 10.4% 10.0%
Middle East 15.3% 15.0%
Digital Technology 10.3% 12.5%

Sensitivities

A sensitivity analysis has been performed on each of the base case assumptions used for assessing the goodwill with other
variables held constant. Consideration of sensitivities to key assumplions can evolve from one financial year to the next. The
Directors consider that a reasonable possible change in assumptions would be a decrease in long-term growth rate of 0.5%, an
increase in pre-tax discount rate of 50 basis points, or a reduction in budgeted cash flows of 5%.

None of these sensitivities would result in an impairment in the existing CGUs, however Middle East is considered sensitive
due to the impact to the headrcom on account of changes to assumptions.

For Middle East the current headroom s £4.5m. The impact of the above reasonable changes are as follows:

e« A decrease in long-term growth rate by 0.5% results in a headroom of £2.2m.
» Anincrease in pre-tax discount rate of 50 basis points resuits in a headroom of £4.5m.
+ A reduction in budgeted cash flows of 5% results in an impaimment of £0.7m.

The Directors have also considered the amount by which the value assigned to each key assumption must change, after
incorporating any consequential effects of that change on the other variables used to measure recoverable amount, in order for
the Middle East CGU's recaverable amount to be equal to its camying amount as follows:

. A decrease in long-term growih rate by 1.1%.
. An incredse in pre-tax discount rate of 90 basis points.
s Areduction in budgeted cash flows of 65.0%.

The Directors believe that, notwithstanding the sensitivity of Middle East, there is no requirement for an impairment provisian on
the carrying value of the CGUSs.
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13. inventories

2022 2021
£000 £000
Consumables 1,224 814
Raw materials 5,540 2,654
6,764 3,468
In 2022, a total of £14,771,000 (2021: £10,118,000) of inventories was included in profit or loss as an expense.
14. Trade and other receivables
2022 2021
£000 £000
Trade receivables (Note 26) 59,420 53,823
Other debtars and prepayments 25,147 5,606
Accrued income (Note 16} 8,554 12,177
83,121 71,606
15. Cash and cash equivalents
2022 2021
£000 £000
Cash at bank and in hand 27,258 65,560
There are no restrictions on cash at bank and in hand.
16. Accrued income and deferred income
‘ Accrued D_eferred
’ income incame
£000 £000
At 1 October 2020 8,426 (30,309)
Accrued revenue invoiced (8,426) -
Revenue recognised in the reporting period - 30,309
Revenue billed in period but relates to future periods - (36.132}
New accrued revenue 12,177 -
At 30 Septembaer 2021 12,177 (36,132}
At 1 October 2021 12,177 (36,132)
Accrued revenue invoiced {12,177} -
Revenue recognised [n the reparting period - 36,132
Revenue billed in period but relates to future periods - (34,662)
New accrued revenue 8,554 -
At 30 September 2022 8,554 (34,662)

The Directors consider that the carrying value of accrued income and deferred income approximates ta its fair value.
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17. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

This nate provides infarmation abaut the contractual terms of the Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings, For more
infurmaltion about the Group's exposure to interest rate risk, see nate 26.

2022 2021+
£000 £000
Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans 528 322,403
Unamortised barrowing costs - {4,507)
Shareholder loans - 1,758
528 319,654
2022 2021
£000 £000
Current liabilities
Secured bank loans 322,473 -
Unamortised borrowing costs (2,658) -
Sharehalder loans 148 -
319,963 -
“Reslated see note 28 -
Terms and debt repayment schedule
Principal Principal
2p22 2021
MNaminal interest rate (%) Year of maturity £000 £000
Term loan 4,29 (2021: 2.04)" 2023 161,202 161,202
Term loan 4.54 (2021: 2.04)" 2023 161,201 181,201
Revalving credit facility term loan 4.54 (2024. 2.04)} 2023 - -
REHAVISTA GmbH loan 3.00(2021: 3.00} 2030 598 -
323,001 322,403
' The margin on the facilities is stated at the current rate and can change between 1.50% and 3.25% based on the ratio of
the Group's net debt to adjusted EBITDA.
The principal amounts and associated interest were settled in full on 7 October 2022, please see nole 26.
18. Trade and other payables
. 2022 2021
£000 £000
Trade payables 9,314 15,220
Accrued expenses 70,883 54,791
80,187 70,611
Caretech Holdings Limited (formerty CareTech Holdings PLC) Annual Report and Accounts 2022 53



DocuSign Envelope 1D: E86B5498-6085-419A-8963-7CA5898203D0

19. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

2022 2021
£000 £000
Deferred tax assets 448 -
Deferred tax liabilities (96,204) (83,927}
(95,756) {83,927)
Movement in deferred tax during the year:
Acqguired in
1 October  Recognised in business Pricr year Changein 30 September
2021 income combinations adjustment tax rate 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Property, plant and equipment 73,382 1,320 - {1,935) 126 72,893
Crerivative financial instruments (1.353) 143 - 1,165 45 -
Intangible assets 15,905 (775) 268 689 {149) 15,938
Share options (1,6086) 1,015 - 270 321 -
Raolled-over gains on property 8,037 11 - 13 4 8,065
Trading losses camied forward (88) (250) - (320) {7y (665)
Shart-term timing differences {350} (153) - 75 47 (475}
93,927 1,311 268 (43) 293 95,756
Movement in deferred tax during the previous year:
Acquired in
1 October Recognised in business Prior year Changein 30 September
2020 income combinations adjustment tax rate 2021
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Property, plant and equipment 52,552 2,408 15 891 17,516 73,382
Derivalive financial instruments (418) (611) - - (324) {1,353}
Intangible assets 11,616 (1,422) 2,237 32 3,442 15,905
Share options {163} (1,690) - 33 (386) (1,606)
Rolled-over gains on property 6,593 - - (485} 1,929 8,037
Trading losses carried forward (27) (80) - 26 7y (88)
Short-term timing differences (309) 35 - 9 (85) (350)
69,844 (760) 2,252 506 22,085 93,927
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20. Provisions

£000
Legal and
other disputes Dilapidations® QOther Total
At 1 October 2021 asg 4,990 200 5,540
Provisions raised during the period - 515 - 515
Amounts used during the period - (447} - (447)
Unused amounts reversed (350) - - (350)
At 30 September 2022 - 5,058 200 5,258

* Dilapidation provisions arise as a result of the conditions attached to lease agreements for land and buildings operated by the
Group. The costs which will be incurred to return leased land and buildings to the required condition when the properties are
handed back to the lessor are determined by an internal chartered surveyor. An asset to the value of the provision is
recognised and amortised of the remaining period of the fease agreement.

Cyber incident after the balance sheet date
Non-adjusting subseguent event

The Group experienced a cyber incident on 4 January 2023, which had an impact on predominantly Cambian and By the
Bridge operating IT Systems. On becoming aware of the cyber-attack, the Group's crisis response was immediately launched,
and its business continuity plans were successfully implemented. There has been no material impact on the provision of
services and the Group believe there is no residual remaining threat as a result of this incident.

The Group is aware of data exfiltration and this is subject to an cngoing investigation. The Group complied with its notification
obligations under applicable dala privacy law including the Information Commissioners Office ({CQ). The Group is cooperating
fully with the ICO's investigation and understands that, if considered appropniate, the ICO has the ability to impose sanctions or
a penalty notice, neither of which can be currently foreseen or reliability estimated.

21. Derivative financial instruments

2022 2021

£000 £000

Put option 4,694 4,662
Interest rate swaps - 752
4,994 5414

As part of the incorparation of Smartbox Holdings, the Group has granted the non-controlling interests the option to request the
Graup 1o acquire some or all of their shares in Smartbox Holdings Limited, exercisable on 5 October 2024. The amount of the
liability for this put option, which is held on the gross redemption basis, is derived from an intemal valuation of the Smartbox
business, ulilising both discounted farecast future cash flow and multiples-based methodologies. The option pricing is based on
the forecasted growth of EBITDA in Smartbox over 4 years from acquisiticn date, and the EBITDA generated over this period
which would be retained in the value if the option was exercised, If either were not to be achieved this wouid decrease the
value of the option which is assessed at each reporting date. The structure of the option is such that if the business is not
generating the EBITDA that is used in the calculation, this price paid will decrease accordingly. There are na performance
obligations or services conditions associated with the aption. The charge to equity is recognised separately as recognition of
liabilities with non-contralling interest. The liability is subsequently accreted through finance c¢harges, up to the redemption
amount that is payable at the date at which the option first becomes exercisable. In the event that the eption expires
unexercised, the liability is derecognised with a comesponding adjustment fo equity.
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22. Employee benefits
Share-based payments

The Group operated five share option schemes during the year: The CareTech Holdings 2017 Sharesave Scheme, the
CareTech Holdings 2020 Sharesave Scheme, the CareTech Holdings 2015 Approved Share Option Scheme, the Executive
Shared Ownership Plan and the Lang-Term Incentive Plan. All share options are equity settled.

The Executive Shared Ownership Plan (‘ExSOP') was formed in March 2017. Under the provisions of the ExSOP, shares (‘the
ExSOP shares') are jointly owned by nominated senier employees and by an employees’ share trust. The ExSOP awards are
subject to a time-retated performance condition measured over a three-year period beginning with the date of the grant. To the
extent the perfarmance condition is satisfied, the participant can benefit from any growth of the share price in excess of the
issue price.

The grant of the ExSOP scheme requires specific performance conditions being satisfied. The EPS Target requires the growth
in the Company's underlying Diluted EPS aver the Performance Period to be at least 15% (being an average 5% annual growth
rate, calculated without compounding) during the year.

On 8 November 2019, the Group issued 2,504,475 new crdinary shares of 0.5p in the Company ('the New Ordinary Shares')
under the Executive Shared Ownership Plan (‘Share Plan') to 30 members of the senior and executive management team. An
award under the Share Plan enables the participant to benefit only from the future growth in the value of the New Qrdinary
Shares above their market value on the award date, in excess of a ‘cammying cost’ of 3% per annum.

The vesling of the Share Plan requires specific performance conditions being satisfied. As with the previous issuance of the
Share Plan, the target is an EPS Target which requires the growth in the Group’s underlying Diluted EPS over the three-year
period beginning on the date of issue of the awards to be at least 15% (being an average 5% annual growth rate, calculated
without compaunding). Participants may not normally realise any such benefit from the Share Plan awards before 8 November
2022, .

On 21 December 2020, the Board approved the implementation of a new Long-Term incentive Plan ('LTIP'), and the Group
granted 803,689 nil-cast options over ordinary shares in the Company to the Company’s Executive Directors and cettain other
members of the senior management team. On 15 December 2021, the Group granted 675,640 nil-cost options over crdinary
shares in the Company to the Campany's Executive Directors and certain other members of the senior management team
under the Board approved LTIP, The weighted average fair value of those options are 428p and 505p respectively.

LTIP awards will normally vest an the third anniversary of the date of grant, subject to the satisfaction of any performance
conditions as set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report, and the grantee’s continued service. Upon vesting, 50% of the
Award shares are subject to a holding period of four years from the date of grant, with the remaining 50% of the Award shares
subject to a halding period of five years from the date of grant.

The options have been valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing mode! in line with [FRS 2 'Share-Based Payments’. The
assumptions used as part of the model include the following:

29 March 8 November 21 December 15 December

2016 2019 2020 2021

Expected voiatility 25% 25% N/A® N/AT
Expected dividend yield 3.90% 3.5% 0%** 0%**
Risk free interest rate 2.39% 1.25% NAT N/A***
Vesting pericd 3 years 3 years 3 years Jyears

* \olatility has no impact on the core value of an award with no exercise price or market condition. Volatility over the one- and
two-year holding periods are 18.29% and 30.4% (2020 issue: 39.03% and 30.95%) respectivety.

** Participants are entitled to receive dividend equivalents on these awards; therefare, the dividend yield does not have an
impact on the fair value of these awards and has been set to zero.

s+ Awards with no exercise price or market condition are not affected by risk free rate. Risk free interest rate over the holding
periods is zero.

Approved and Unapproved scheme options are exercisable at any time from the third anniversary of the date of grant to the
tenth anniversary, other than nominal cost options which may beccme exercisable at the earies! after a period of 3C dealing
days following the third anniversary of being granted. SAYE scheme options are nommally exercisable within six months
following the third anniversary of the date of grant. Options granted under the above schemes, together with those remaining at
30 Saptember 2022 are as follows:
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Options  Exercice price

Weighted
average share
price on dale

Options Options Options Options remaining of share optionr - of exercise "
remaining as at granted lapsedto  exercised to as at (pence} {penca}
Dale of grant Stheme 30 Sep2021 30 Sep2022 30Sep2022 30Sep 2027 30Sep2022 30 Sep 2022 30 Sep 2022
29 Mar 2046  Executive Share Ownership
Plan 1,148,451 - (56,323) (1,092,128) - 24715 750
23 Oct 2019 Approved Share Option
Plan 2015 664,620 - - (664,620 - 380 750
5 Nov 2019 Approved Share Oplion
Plan 2015 898,106 - (384,824% {513,282) - B0 750
8 Nov 2018 Executive Share Ownership
Plan 2,504,475 - (86,667} (2,417,808} - g9 750
21 Sep 2020 Sharesave Scheme 2020 480,678 - (247,080} (233,598) - 355 750
21 Deg 2020 LTIP 799,582 25,188 (108,880} (715,890 - Nil 750
15 Dec 2021 LTIP - 685,468 {55,666} (629,802) ' - Nil 750
On 27" September 2022, following a change in control all the options outstanding fully vested.
The charge for the year was £1,040,000 {2021: £473,000) which relates to the Executive Share Ownership Scheme, the
Sharesave Scheme 2017 and the Approved Share Qption Plan 2015, and £5,183,000 (2021: £902,000) relating to the Long-
Term Incentive Plan, There are no remaining options at 30 September 2022, the weighted average exercise price of the
remaining options is at 30 September 2021 was 315.6p, and the weighted average remaining contractual life of all share
aptions outstanding in the pricr year was 6.4 years.
23. Equity
2022 2021
Share caphtal £000 £QOD
Allotted, called up and fully paid:
114,915,043 (2021: 113,327,459) ordinary shares of 0.5p each 575 566
53,402 deferred shares of 0.5p each - -
575 566

Share capital represents the nominal (par) value of shares that have been issued. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to
receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. The
deferred shares have no such rights. Movements in the number of issued shares were as follows:

Ordinary shares of 0.5p each Deferred shares of 0.5p each
At 1 October 2020 113,173,992 53,402
Issuad under Share Schemes 153,467 -
At 30 September 2021 113,327,459 53,402
At 1 Octaber 2021 113,327,459 53,402
Issued under Share Schemes 1,587,584 -
At 30 September 2022 114,915,043 53,402
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24, Reserves
(a) Share premium account

During the year, the issue of new shares charged to the share premium account are as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Opening balance 1 October 133,551 133,079
Premium on issue of shares 5,375 472
At 30 September 138,926 133,551
Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital, with the exception of shares issued in consideration
in acquisitions, Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium, net of any
related income tax benefits.
(b) Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the premium arising on the ordinary shares issued as consideration for the acquisition of shares
in ancther company (merger relief),
2022 2021
£000 £000
Opening balance 1 October 125,842 125,842
Issue of shares - -
At 30 September ’ 125,842 125,842

{c) Shares held by Executive Shared Qwnership Plan

Further information relating to the EBT reserve of the Group is detailed in note 22 1o the consolidated financial statements of

the Group.

(d) Retained earnings

Retained eamings includes all current and prior pericd retained profits and share-based employee remuneration. Dividend
distributions payable to equity sharehalders are included in ather liabilities when the dividends have been approved in a

General Meeting prior to the reporting date.
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{e) Other components of equity
Other components of equity include the following:

Fareign currency translation reserve — comprises foreign currency translation differences arising from the translation of financial
statements of the Groups foreign entities net assets.

Changes in shareholding - changes in shareholding of subsidiaries which do not result in a change in ownership and are
recognised through equity.

Foreign rurrency

) Changes in
translation . Total
reserve shareholding
£000 £600 £000
At 30 September 2020° 53 - 53
Exchange differences on transiation of foreign entities (424) - (424)
Movement in equity due to changes in shareholdings - - .
At 30 September 2021 (371) - {371)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign entities 6,655 - 6,655
Movement in equity due to changes in shareholdings - (2,625) (2,625)
At 30 September 2022 6,284 {2,625) 3,659
25, Dividends
The aggregate amount of dividends comprises:
2022 2021
£000 £000
Interim dividend paid in respect of priar year but not recognised as liabilities in that year
(4.6p per share, (2021; 4.0p per share}) 5,210 4,525
Final dividend paid in respect of the prior year (9.5p per share, (2021: 8.75p per share)) 10,75¢ 9,906
Aggregate amount of dividends paid in the financial year (14,1p per share {2021: 12.75p per share)) 15,969 14,431

The aggregate amount of dividends propesed and not recognised as liabilities as at the year end is nil per share, £nil (2021:
14.1p per share, £10,482,790).

Dividends not included above but paid to the non-controlling interest in Group subsidiary entities amounted to £2,467k (2021.
£2,865k}

26. Financial instruments

The use of financial instruments is managed under policies and procedures approved by the Board. These are designed to
reduce the financial risks faced by the Graup, which primarily relate ta credit, interest and liquidity risks, which arise in the
normal course of the Group's business.

Credit risk

Financial instruments which potentially expose the Group to credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents and trade
receivables. Cash equivalents are deposited only with major financial institutions that satisfy certain credit criteria.

Management has a credit policy in place and exposure to credit risk is menitared on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are
carmmied out on all significant prospective customers and all existing customers requiring credit beyond a certain threshold,
Varying approval levels are set on the extension of credit depending upon the value of the sale.

Where credit risk is deemed to have risen to an unacceptable level, remedial actions including the variation of terms of trade
are implemented under the guidance of senior management until the level of credit risk has been nomalised.
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The Group provides credit 1o customers in the normal course of business. The amounts presented in balance sheet in relation
to the Group’s trade receivables are prasented net of loss allowances. The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to the lifelime expected credit losses ('ECLS') using both quantitative and gualitative information and analysis based on
the Group's historical experience and forward-locking information. During the year there was a credit fo the consolidated
income statement of £102,000 (2021: £301,000 charge) to decrease the loss allowance.

At the balance sheet dale, there were ho significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carying amount of each financial asset. Based on past experience, the Group believes that no further
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due. The Group considers that the carying value of
trade receivables approximates to its fair value.

The trade receivables as at 30 Seplember are aged as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Not due 29,871 27,915
Not more than three months past due 21,571 18,180
More than three months but not more than six months past due 4,376 4,039
More than six months but not more than 12 months past due 3,602 3,68¢
Trade receivables (Note 14) 59,420 53,823
The mavemant in provisions for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
£000
At 1 October 2020 1,661
Credited to the consolidated income statement m
At 30 September 2021 1,962
Charged to the consolidated income statement (102}
At 20 September 2022 1,860

Included in the provision for impairment of trade receivables is an expected credit loss of £133,000 (2021: £235,000).

Interest rate risk

The Group finances its aperations through called up share capital, retained profits, bank borrowings, and the sale of assets if
appropriate. The Group's incame is by its nature relatively stable and its growth is, inter alia, impacted by inflation. Group policy
is to balance interest rate fixes between the short, medium and long term. The benchmark rate for bank borrowings is SONIA,
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Liquidity risk

The Group prepares annual cash flow forecasts reflecting known commitments and anticipated projects. Borrowing facilities are
arranged as necessary lo finance requirements. The Group has available bank facilities, sufficient, with cash flow from profits,

to fund present commitments. Term facilities are utilised to fund capital expenditure and short-term flexibility is achieved by the
utilisation of cash resources in respect of financial liabilities. The following table indicates their contractual cash flow maturities.

2022

Contractual cash

Effective interest Carrying amount flows <1 year 1-5 years 5 years & over

rate % £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Trade and other payables (81,021) (81,021) (81,021) - -

Secured bank loans 4.54% (320,162) {329,244) {329,244) - -
Secured bank loans

REHAVISTA Gmbh 3.00% (598} (598) (70} {281} {247)

Shareholder loans (148) {148) (148) - -

Lease fiabilities (127,824) (432,615) (10,922} (32,449) {389,244)

Derivative financial instruments (4,994) (6,303) - {6,303) -

{534,747). (849,929) {421,405) (39,033} (389,491)

2021
Carrying Contractual

Effective amount cash fiows < 1 year 1=5years 5 years & over

interest rate % £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Trade and other payables (70,011} (70,011} (70,011) - -

Secured bank loans 2.04% {317 B96)* (335,763) {6,519) (329,244) -

Sharehalder loans {1,758) (1,758) (1,758} - -

Lease liabilities (124.251) (432,202) (9,565) (30,567) (392,070}

Derivative financial instruments (5414) (6,303) - {6,303) -

(523,867) {845,148) {87,853) {(365,225) (392,070)

‘Restated see note 29

$ee note 17 for the maturity dates and interest rates charged on the secured bank loans.
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Analysis of changes in liabilities from financing activities

The below table represents the movement in liabilities from financing activities:

Shareholders Derivative financial

Secured bank loans Accrued interest** Lease liabilities® loan instruments Total*
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £00D
1 October 2020 317,122 1,492 88,688 1,833 2,198 411,333
Cash flows (438) {7.729) (10,109) - (1,761)  (20,037)
Acquired through business
acquisitions ' - - 30,964 - - 30,964
New leases - - 40,287 — - 10,287
Changes in fair value - - - - 4977 4,977
Effect of foreign exchange - - - (75) - (75)
Interest expense 1.212 7.607 4,451 - - 13,270
30 September 2021 317,896 1,370 124,281 1,758 5414 450,719
Cash flows (4,251) (8,342) {10,764) (1,610) (968)  (25,935)
Acquired through business
acquisitions 4,841 322 1,141 - - 6,304
New leases - - 8,463 - - 8,463
Effect of foreign exchange (3} - - - - {3)
Interest expense 1,860 9,010 4,703 - 548 16,121
30 September 2022 320,343 2,360 127,824 148 4,994 455669

‘Restated see note 29
** Accrued interest was not previously included in this analysis

CareTech's three key covenanl ratios are leverage (ratio of net debt to covenant EBITDA to be no more than 4.0), interest
cover (ratio of covenant EBITDA o nel finance costs ta be no less than 4x) and LTV (ratio of property value to net debt to be no
more than 62.5%).

On 27 September 2022, the Group was acquired by Amalfi Bidco limited and delisted frorm the Alternative Investment Markel
{"AIM"). Following delisting, the Group’s cument bank loans of £322.3m were fully repaid on 8 October 2022 and replaced with
intercompany loans from Amalfi Bidco Limited. '

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that activities of the Group will be able to continue as a going cancermn whilst
maximising retums for shareholders through the optimisation of debt and equity.

The Group's capital siructure is as follows:

2022 2024

£000 £000
Net debt 208,025 258,661
Equity 410,934 380,917
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Net debt

Net debt comprises cash and cash equivalents net of bank loans and borrowings and HP leases previously accounted for
under IAS 17 excluding Project Teak sale and leaseback. Net debt remains unchanged following the adoption of iIFRS 16.

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Net debt in the balance sheet comprises:
Cash and cash equivalents 27,258 65,560
Bank loans 17 (320,343) {317.,896)
Shareholder loan {148) (1,758)
Lease and hire purchase contracts 18 (4,792) {4,567)
Net debt at 30 September (298,025) (258,661)
Foreign currency risk
Most of The Group's transaclions are camied out in GBP. Exposures to currency exchange rates arise from the Group's
investment in ‘the AS Group', registered in the United Arab Emirates, which is denominated in AED, and Smartbox which has
sales ta Europe, North and Central America, Australasia, Middle East and Africa. All other revenues arise within the UK and all
non-current assets are likewise located in the UK. No single external customer amounts to 10% or more of the Group's
revenues.
At 30 September 2022, it is estimated a 10% movement in GBP/AED would result in a movement of GBP 732,000 in profit
before tax. A 10% movement in any other cumency exposures would not result in a material movement in profit before tax.
There was no material exposure in the prior year.
Sensitivity analysis
In managing inlerest rate risks the Group aims to reduce the impact of short-term fluctuations on the Group's eamings. Over
the longer term, however, permanent ¢hanges in interest rates would have an impact on consolidated earnings.
At 30 September 2022, it is estimated that a general increase of 1% in interest rates would impact finance expense and
decrease the Group's profit before tax and equily by approximately £3,224,000 {2021: £2,024,000). Economic hedging
instruments have been included in this calculation, The Group does not apply hedge accounting.
Fair values
The fair values together with the carrying amounts shawn in the balance sheet are as follows:
Carmrying amount Fair value Carrying Fair value
2022 2022 amount 2021 2021
£000 £000 £000 £0GO
Financial instruments at amortised cast
Cash at bank and in hand 27,258 27,258 65,560 65,560
Trade receivables (Note 14) 59,420 59,420 53,823 53,823
Trade payables (Note 18) (8,314) {9,314) (15,220) (15,220}
Secured bank loans (Note 17) {323,403) (322,403) (322,403) (322,403}
Accrued interest (2,360) {2,360) {1,370) {1,370}
Shareholder loan (148) (148) (1,758} (1,758)
Derivative financial instruments — put option (4,994) (4,994) {4,662} (4,662)
Held at fair value through profit and loss:
Derivalive financial instruments — interest rale swaps - - (752) (752)
Contingent consideration - - (3,616} (3,616)
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Where market values are not available, falr values of financlal assets and liabilities have been calculated by discounting
expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates with the following assumptions being applied:

. For trade and other receivables and payables with a remaining life of less than one year the carrying armount is deemed
to reflect the fair value.

- For cash and cash equivalents the amounts reported on the balance sheet approximates to fair value.

«  Forsecured bank loans at floating rate the camying value is deemed to reflect the fair value as it represents the price of
the instruments in the market placea.

- For accrued interest the amount rapayable is less than one year and the carrying amount is deemed to reflect the fair
value.

. For shareholder loans the amount is repayable in less than one year and the carrying amount is deemed to reflect the
fair value.

. For the derivatives financial instruments, these were entered into to manage the Group’s exposute to interest rate risk on
its external borrowings and additionally include a put aption.

The fair for contingent consideration and the Put option both arise on account of the acquisition in the year. The fair value has
been determined based on a muttiple of profit, measured using projected cash flows of the entity based on the management's
knowledge of the business and how the cument economic environment is likely to impact it. These projections have not been
discounted for the contingent consideration (as they are expected to be paid in less than a year) and have been discounted for
the put option using 7.0%.

With regard to the put option, a change of +/- 10% in the cash flows and a change in +/-1% in the discount rate would impact
the income statement by £74,000 (2021; £66,000). With regard to the prior year contingent consideration, a change of 10% in
the forecast cash flows wouid not have a material impact on the income statement.,

Fair value hierarchy

The financial instruments caried at fair value by valuation methods are:

2022 2021
£000 EO0O
Level 1 — unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities - -
Leve! 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or
lizbility either as a direct price or indirectly derived from prices - (752}
Level 3 — inputs for the asset or liabilities that are not based on observable market data - (3,618)

The fair values for all financial instruments carried at amortised costs are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value
af the contingent consideration is the full amount payable under the earm-cut as the Directors expect the gross profit crtenia of
Smartbox for the full year ended 30 September 2022 to be met. The fair value of the put option is derived fram an intemal
valuation of the Smartbox business, utilising both discounted forecast future cash flow and multiples-based methodologies.,
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The reconciliation of camying amounts classified within Level 3 is as follows:

Contingent
consideration
£000
Balance at 1 October 2020 1,569
Settled in cash (1,503)
Acquired through business combination 3,550
Recognised in profit or loss -
Balance at 30 September 2021 3,616
Settled in cash (3,550)
Acquired through business combination 1,116
Recognised in profit or lass {1,182)
Balance at 30 September 2022 -
Total amount included in profit or loss for unrealised {galns)/losses on level 3
instruments
2022 2021
£000 £000
Foreign exchange gain (66) -
Coenlingent consideration write off {1,116} -
(1,182) -
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27. Related parties

Ouring the year, the Group paid rent totailing £877,948 (2021: £701,155) in respect of praperties in which Farouq Sheikh OBE
and Haroon Sheikh have an inferest. At the year end, rent of £182,264 {2021: £159,743) was outstanding. The lease liability
recognised at 30 September 2022 is £4,699,718 (2021: £2,321,600).

Dividends paid to Directors in the year totalled £nil (2021: £61,000).

Transactions with key management personnel

2022 2021

{ £000 £000

Salary 3,917 4,233
Benefits 447 635
Bonus 2,629 1,449
Total shor-term remuneration 6.893 6,317
Post-employment benefits 210 323
Share-based payments ) - 110
7,203 6,750

Key management personne! are defined as Directors of the Group and members of the Senior Management Team.
Directors' emoluments are set out on page 40.

During the year, the Group made donations to the CareTech Charitable Foundation of £1.5m (2021: £1.2m)

28. Group undertakings

The Group has the following investments in trading subsidiaries included in the consolidated results for the year. The operating
subsidiaties are engaged in either owning property ('Praperty’} or in the provision of services to adults or children {‘Trading').
Additionally, the Group has subsidiaries that are non-trading, act as holding companies, or are darmant {Non-trading').

Ownership Ownership
Company Company number Country of incorporation Type 2022% 2021%
Addinglon House Limited* 04404355 England and Wales QOperaling 100 100
Advanced Childcare Services Limited* 07559570 England and Wales - Nan-trading 100 100
Advances In Autism Care & Education 03252453 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Limited"*
Applied Care and Development Lid* 5C224352 Scotland Operating 100 X 100
Ashcroft House Limited® 03390658 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Ashring House Limited* 03370991 England and Wales Qperating 160 100
Ashview House Limited* 03304446 Engtand and Wales Operating 100 100
Barleycare Limited* 05156601 England and Wales QOperating 100 100
Beacon Care Holdings Limited*+ 03253998 England and Wales Non-trading o 100 100
Beacon Care Investments Limited*+ 04351554 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Beacon Care Limited* 03160894 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Beech Care Limited* 04050685 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Branas Isaf (Ashfield House) Limited* 05761962 England and Wales Operating 100 100
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Ownership Ownership
Company Company number Country of incorporation Type 2022% 2021%
Branas Isaf (Bythnod & Hendre Liwyd) 04826628 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Limiteq+
Branas [saf (Dewis) Limited* 04828115 England and Wales QOperating 100 100
Branas |saf (Education Centre) Limiled* 04826662 England and Wales QOperaling 100 100
Branas |saf (LIyn Coed) Ltd* 04826774 England and Wales Operaling 100 100
Branas |saf (personal development & 04826959 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
approach training} Limited*
Branas Isaf (Therapeutic Provision 05355404 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Limited)*
Branas Isaf Holdings Ltd* 04827227 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
E{:.nas Isaf Persona) Development Centre 03744583 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Bright Care Limited* 04050733 England and Wales Operating 100 100
By the Bridge Holdings* 05712186 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
By the Bridge Limited* 04050928 England and Wales Operating 100 100
By the Bridge Management Company 08587714 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Limited*
By the Bridge North West Limited* 05448746 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Cambian Asperger Syndrome Services 04117476 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Limiteq*
Cambian Autism Services Limited* 03449214 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Cambrian Care (Powys) Limited* 03813824 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Childcare Limited* 04280519 £ngland and Wales Operating 100 100
Cambian Childcare Properties Limited* 05274924 England and Wales Property 100 100
Cambian Education Services Limited* 05554772 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian FS Limited* 09501886 England and Wales Noh-trading 100 100
Cambian Group Holdings Limited* 08929407 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Group Limited*+ 08929371 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Heritage | Limited* 05150238 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Heritage Il Limited* 03898254 England and Wales Property 100 100
Interaci Care Limited* 04822716 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Cambian Properties (UK) Limited* 05554819 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Signpost Limited* 06253729 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Cambian Whinfell School Limited* 04617562 Engiand and Wales Operating 100 100
Cameron Care Limited* SC283840 Scotland Operating 100 100
Candour Housing CIC 13562034 England and Wales Operating 100 -
Care Support Services Limited* 05356025 England and Wales Operating 100 100
CareTech Cammunity Services (No 2) 03894564 England and Wales Qperating 100 100
Limiteg®
CareTech Community Services Limiled*+ 02804415 England and Wales Operating 100 100
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Ownership Ownership
Company Company number Country of incarporation Type 2022% 2021%
CareTech Consutting Limited* 07186925 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Caretech Digital Limited 13601641 England and Wales Operating 100 -
CareTech Estates (No 2) Limited*+ 06518327 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Estates (No 3) Limited*+ 06518491 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Estates (No 4) Limiled*+ 06543818 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Estates (No 5) Limited*+ 07027116 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Estates (No 8) Limited*+ 08420656 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Estates (No 7) Limited*+ 08628141 England and Wales Property 160 100
CareTech Estates Limited*+ 05964868 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Foster Care Limited* 05185612 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
CareTech Fostering Holdings Limited* 07208363 Engfand and Wales Non-trading 100 100
CareTech Fostering Services* 07205262 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
CareTech Housing Services* 03438332 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
CareTech Intemational {Previously Family 06902547 Engtand and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Assessment Services Limited) Limited™
Clifford House Limited* 03320573 England and Wales Mon-trading 100 100
Colerne Community Care {Kent) Limited* 02755757 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Community Support Project Limited*+ 05941774 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Complete Care & Enablement Services 05905163 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Limited*
Continuum Care and Education Group 05804360 England and Wales MNon-trading 100 100
Limited*
Counticare Limited* 02585666 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Covebernry Limited* 01208511 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Daisybrook Limited* 03626221 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Dawn Hodge Associates Limited* 04130146 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Delam Care Limited* 02995783 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Delham Care Limited* 02748931 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Elite Children’'s Care Limited® 05251327 England and Wales Nan-trading 100 100
Emeraldpoint Limited* 03098166 England and Wales Operating 100 100
EnableAll Limited 13540728 England and Wales Operating 100 -
EQL Solutions Limited*+ 08758477 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Famow House Limited* 03504115 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Fostering Support Group Limited™ 02359339 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Franklin Homes Limited* 030028865 England and Wales Qperating 100 100
Glenroyd House Limited* 04326288 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Gloucestershire Autism Services Limited® 03091510 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Green Coms Limited* 03918305 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
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Ownership Ownership
Company Company number Country of incorporation Type 2022% 2021%
Greenhelds Adolescent Development 04068839 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Limited®
Greenfields Care Group Limited* 04642100 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Hereson House Limited* 04385252 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Herts Care (Escort and Supervision 03648069 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Seorvices) Limitod*
Herts Care Group Limited* 04539660 England and Wales Nen-trading 100 100
Herts Care Limited* 03400914 Engtand and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Hers Care Property Limited* 04132387 England and Wales Non-rading 100 100
Huntsmans Lodge Limited* 04668317 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Independent Childcare Group of Schoals 02525026 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Limited*
Inhcco 2993 Limited* 04934338 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
K O B Care Limited* 03039698 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Kirkstall Lodge Limited* 04778674 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Leigham Lodge Limited* 04583599 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Lonsdale Midlands Limited* 02834141 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Lyndhurst Psychiatric Residential Care 02958528 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Limited*
Magnolia Court Limited* 05444649 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Mason Property Development Company 04308273 England and Wales Property 100 100
Limited®
Ozkleaf Care (Hartwell) Limited* 05225317 England and Wales Operating 100 100
One Six One Limited* 04136284 England and Wales Operating 100 100
One Step (Suppaon) Limited* 04534652 England and Wales Qperating 100 100
Onetrue Step Limited 08339192 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Outlook Fostering Services Limited® 04357704 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Palm Care Limited* 04050739 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Park Fester Care Ltd* 048613485 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Park Foster Care Services Scotland SC427502 Scotland Operating 100 100
Limited®
Phoenix Therapy and Care Limited* SC254555 Scotland Operating 100 100
Pinnacle Supported Living Limited* 02736242 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Prestwood Residentia) Homes L1d* 04129564 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Primrose Court Limited* 04803769 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Professional Integrated Care Services 04771613 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Limited*
Purple Zest Limited*+ 11421082 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Roborough House Limited* 05054294 England and Wales Operating 100 100
ROC North West Lid* 05554417 England and Wales QOperating 100 100
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Ownership Qwnership
Company Company number Country of incorporation Type 2022% 2021%
Rosedale Children's Services Limited* 04932054 England and Wales Operating 100 100
SACCS Care Limited” 04495879 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
SACCS Limited* 04497910 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Selbome Care Limited” 05513162 England and Wales Cperating 100 100
Selwyn Care Limited* 03737832 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Smartbox Holdings Limited 12813709 England and Wales Non-trading 83 70
Smartbox Assistive Technalogy Limited 05541084 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Sr'r)\artbox Assistive Technology Inc, (US 6082148 Delaware, US Operating 100 100
co
Smartbox Assistive Technalogy (EU) 658998 ireland Operating 160 100
(ireland co)
Sensory Software Intemational Limited 03662043 England and Wales Operaling 100 100
REHAVISTA GmbH HRB 28676 HB  Germany Operating 100 -
LogBuk GmbH HRB 28889 HB  Germany Operaling 100 -
South East Care Services Limited* 02296352 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Spark of Genius Limited* SC479758 Scotland Non-trading 100 ) 100
Spark Of Genius (North East) LLP 0C384807 England and Wales Operating 50 50
Spark Of Genius (Training) Limited* SC196146 Scotland Operating 100 100
St Michae!l's Support & Care Limited* 05978585 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Sunnyside Care Homes Ltd* 04589719 England and Wales Operating 1ee 100
The Community Care Company UK 02816119 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Limited*
TLC (Wales) Independent Fostering 04824925 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Limited*
Trojan Spark Limited* 8453152 Scotland Non-trading 100 100
Uplands (Fareham) Limited* 03488826 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Valeo Community Projects Limited* 03941224 England and Wales Nan-trading 100 100
Valeo Limited*+ 04099715 England and Wales Onperating 100 100
Victeria Lodge Limited* 04454845 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Vosse Court Limited® 04778676 Engtand and Wales QOperating 100 100
White Cliffs Lodge Limited* 04351559 England and Wales Qperating 100 100
Wyatt House Limited* 04319271 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Developments Il Limited 104724 Jersey? Non-trading 100 100
H20O Limited FCS7281 Gibraltar Non-trading 100 100
Hazeldene UK Limited® FCO015967 Gibraltar Operating 160 100
Cambian Properties || Limited 91131 Jersey? Property 100 100
CareTech Cloud Limited* 12392889 England and Wales Non-traging 100 100
CareTech Digital Limited” 13601641 England and Wales Non-trading 100 -
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Ownership Ownership
Company Company number Country of incarporation Type 2022% 2021%
C 1 H-Lhigitai Lab Limuted” 13921797 England and Wales Operating 100 -
CareTech Design and Build Limited* 13729966 England and Wales Non-trading g 100 -
Candour Housing CIC* 13562034 England and Wales Operating 100 -
CareTech Mena Social Care LLC 1010563230 Saudi Arabia Non-trading 100 100
CareTech Holdings Limited 33R1 United Arab Emirates Non-trading 100 100
AS1 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM) 3272 United Arab Emirates Non-trading 52 52
AS2 Investments Holdings Ltd (ADGM) 5298 United Arab Emirates Non-trading ' 89.9 89.9
AS Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM) 3087 United Arab Emirates Non-trading 52 52
Macani Medical Centre CN-1937451 United Arab Emirates Operating 99 29
AS Northwood Investments Holdings LLC CN-2696945 United Arab Emirates Non-trading 99 99
{ADGM)
ACPN Dubai 674030 United Arab Emirates Operating 85 65
ACPN Abu Dhabi CN-1142528 United Arab Ernirates Operating 85 €5
ACPN Al Ain CN-1142528-1 United Arab Emirates Operating 85 65
AS3 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM) 6937 United Arab Emirates Non-trading 51 -
DBG HoldCo 6810 United Arab Emirates Non-trading 70.7 -
Bayti Home Healthcare LLC (Abu Dhabi) CN-15331981 United Arab Emirates Operating 99 -
Bayti Home Healthcare LLC {Abu Ajman) 72626 United Arab Emirates Operating 99 -
DMETCO Home Healthcare LLC (Abu CN-1269453 United Arab Emirates Operating 93 -
Dhabi)
DMETCO Home Healthcare LLC Branch 1 CN-1269453-1 Unitad Arab Emirates Operating 93 -
AS4 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM) 6798 United Arab Emirates Nan-trading 52 -
Wellness Oneday Surgery MF3622 United Arab Emirates Qperaling 89 -
Wellness Phamacy PF3070 United Arab Emirates Operating 89 -
Care Talent Advisors Limited* 12391623 England and Wales Non-trading E0 [:01]
Jobzooma Limited 10127824 England and Wales Operating 294 294
Recruiterink Limited 11665920 England and Wales Operating 29.4 294

' Has a UK designated trading branch, Hazeldene UK Limited.
?  Registered office 9 Burrard Street, St Helier, Jersey JE4 SSE.
*  Owned directly by the Company.

These subsidiaries have taken advantage of the audit exemption under s479A and s479C of the Companies Act 2006 for
the period ended 30 September 2022. As such, the Company has provided a guarantee against all debts and liabilities in these
subsidiaries as at 30 September 2022.

Exemption from audit by Parent guarantee

The Company being the yltimate sole shareholder of its subsidiaries has decided to take the exempticn from audit of 2 number
of subsidiaries for the year ended 30 September 2022 under Sections 479A and 479C of the Companies Act 2006 and the
Company will provide a guarantee for all the liabilities of those entities as at 30 September 2022 detailed above with the
exception of Spark of Genius (North East) LLP.

Wholly-owned subsidiaries incorporated in Gibrallar, Germany, UAE, Saudi Arabia, USA, ireland and Jersey will not be covered
by the Parent Company guarantee as they are incorporated outside of the UK.
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offices of all subsidiaries is Sth Flaor Metropolitan House, 3 Darkes Lane, Potters

Address

Applied Care and Development Lid

Netherea House, Bankend Road, Dumfries, DG1 4AL

Cameron Care Limited

Inspire Children Services, Lochview, Fort William, Invemess-Shire, PH33 7NP

awn Hodge Associates Limited

Fiveways House, Buildwas Road, Neston, CHB4 3RU

Park Fosler Care Services Scolland Limited

272 Bath Street, Glasgow, G2 4JR

Phoenix Therapy and Care Limited

1 Lodge Streel, Haddington, East Lothian, EH41 30X

Professional Integrated Care Services
Limited

Tan Y Fron, Pontardulais Road, Crosshands, Carmarthenshire, SA14 6P G

Spark of Genius Limited

Trojan House Pegasus Avenue, Phoenix Business Park, Paisley, PA1 2BH

Spark of Genius {North East) LLP

King Edwin School Mill Lane, Norton, Stockton-On-Tees, North Yorkshire, TS20 1LG

Spark of Genius (Training) Limited

Trojan House Pegasus Avenue, Phoenix Business Park, Paisley, PA1 2BH

Trojan Spark Limited

Trojan House Pegasus Avenue, Phoenix Business Park, Paistey, PA1 2BH

H20 Limited

Maontagu Pavillion, 8-10 Queensway, Gibraltar

Hazeldene UK Limited

Montagu Pavillion, 8-10 Queensway, Gibraltar

CareaTech Mena Social Care LLC

7534 King Abdul Aziz Road - Al Ghadeer District, Unit No 44, Riyadh 133114672,
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

CareTech Holdings Limited

2459, 24, Al Sila Tower, Abu Dhabi Global Market Square, Al Maryah Island, Abu Dhabi,
United Arabty Emirates

AS1 Investments Halding Ltd (ADGM)

2458 Al Sila Tower, ADGM Square, Al Marya island Abu Dhabi, UAE

AS2 Investments Halding Ltd (ADGM)

18th Floor, Wework Hub71, Al Khatem Tower, ADGM Square, Al Maryah Island, Abu Dhabi,
United Arab Emirates

AS Investments Holding Lid (ADGM)

2458 Al Sila Tower, ADGM Square, Al Marya Island, Abu Dhabi, UAE

Macani Medical Centre

Ahmed Ali Mohamed Abdulla Alsayegh Building, Office 205,
GH 10, Q 83, T 2, Al Khalidiah Street, Abu Dhabi, UAE

AS Northwood Investments Holdings LLC
(ADGM)

Unit of Ahmed All Mohamed Abdulla Alsayegh, West 10,0,
PO Box No. 52613, Abu Dhabi, UAE

ACPN Dubai

Jumeirah Sunset Mall, Jumeirah 3, PO Box 66026, Dubai, UAE

ACPN Abu Dhabi

Khalid bin Abdul Aziz Street, Mounira Sheikh Ahmed Al Mubarzak Building, PO Box 108698,
Abu Dhabi, UAE

ACPN Al Ain

villa of Mochammed Raashid Mohammed and others, Al Ghil, Al Ma'atarid, Al Ain, Abu Dhabi,
UAE

AS3 Investments Halding Ltd (ADGM)

2458 Al Sila Tower, ADGM Square, Al Marya Island Abu Dhabi, UAE

DBG HoldCo

P.O Box 52613, Unit No. 501, Leve! 5, Index Tower, Dubai Intemational Financial Centre
(DIFC), Dubai, UAE

Bayti Home Healthcare LLC {Abu Dhabi)

P.0O Box 52613, Unit No. 501, Level 5, Index Tower, Dubai lntemational Financial Centre
(DIFC}, Dubai, UAE

Bayti Home Healthcare LLC (Abu Ajman)

P.0O Box 52613, Unit No. 501, Level 5, Index Tower, Dubai Intemational Financial Centre
(DIFC), Dubai, UAE

DMETCO Home Healtheare LLC (Abu
Dhabi)

P.0O Box 52613, Unit No. 501, Level 5, Index Tower, Dubai Intemational Financial Centre
(DIFC), Dubai, UAE

DMETCO Home Heaithcare LLC Branch 1

P.0 Box 52613, Unit No. 501, Leve! 5, Index Tower, Dubai Intemnational Financial Centre
(DIFC), Dubai, UAE

AS4 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM)

2458 Al Sila Tower, ADGM Square, Al Marya Island Abu Dhabi, UAE
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Company Address

P.O Box 52613, Unit No. 501, Level 5, Index Tower, Dubai Intermational Financial Centre
(DIFC), Dubai, UAE

Wellness Oreday Surgery

P.O Box 52613, Unit No. 501, Level 5, Index Tower, Dubai Intemnational Financial Centre
{DIFC), Dubai, UAE

Wellness Pharmacy

Ysobel House Enigma Commercial Centre, Sandys Road, Malvern, Worcestershire, England,
WR14 1JJ

Smartbex Assistive Technology Limited

Smartbox Agsistive Technology Inc. (US co) 2831 Leechburg Road, NEW KENSINGTON, PA 15068, Westmoreland

Smartbox Assistive Technology (EU)

_ Jpa Brenson Lawlor House, Argyle Square Morehampton Raad, Donnybrook, Dublin
(Ireland co)

Sensory Software International Limited Seneca House Links Point, Amy Johnson Way, Blackpoo!, Lancashire, FY4 2FF

REHAVISTA GmbH Konsul-Smidt-Strafie 8C, 28217 Bremen, Germany

LogBuk GmbH Konsul-Smidt-Straflle 8C, 28217 Bremen, Germany

Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest ("NCF')

The Group has aggregated the subsidiary financial information of the AS Group acquited on 4 February 2020. On 4 February 2022
the further acquisitions of Wellness and Dmetco (see nole 4) have been included in the AS Group. The Group has considered it
appropriate to aggregale the infarmation due to geographical lacation and the nature of the activities being performed is consistent.
The below table shows the subsidiaries that form part of the Group.

Proportion of
voting rights held by
nan-controlling interests

Proportion ot
ownership
imterests held by
non-cantrolling

Subsidiary name Principal place of business interests**

2022 2024 2022 2021+
AS Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM) United Arab Emirates 48% 48% 48% 48%
AS Northwood Investments Holdings LLC (ADGM)  United Arab Emirates 1% 1% 1% 1%
ACPN Dubai United Arab Emirates 43.8% 66.5% 15% 35%
ACPN Abu Dhabi United Arab Emirates 43.8% 66.5% 15% 35%
ACPN Al Ain United Arab Emirates 43.8% 66.5% 15% 35%
AS1 Investments Holding Lid (ADGM) United Arab Emirates 48% 48% 48% 48%
AS2 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM) United Arab Emirates 10.1% 10.1% 10.1% 10.1%
Macani Medical Centre United Arab Emirates 46.1% 46.1% 1% 1%
AS3 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM) United Arab Emirates 49% 49% - -
DBG HoldCo United Arab Emirates 64.0% 29.3% - -
Bayti Home Healthcare LLC (Abu Dhabi) United Arab Emirates 64.3% 1% - -
Bayti Home Healthcare LLC (Abu Ajman} United Arab Emirales 64,3% 1% - -
DMETCQC Home Healthcare LLC {Abu Dhabi) United Arab Emirates 64.3% 1% - -
DMETCO Home Healthcare LLC Branch 1 United Arab Emirates 64.3% 1% - -
AS4 Investments Holding Ltd {ADGM) United Arab Emirates 48% 48% - -
Wellness Oneday Surgery United Arab Emirates 48.5% 1% - -
Weflness Phammacy United Arab Emirates 48.5% 1% - -
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*Resliated see note 29

** Ownership interests reflect the indirect economic interest held by the Group in material NCls.
actua) voting rights held by NCI in each of the entities disclosed

The voting rights reflect the

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Profit allocated to NCls during the reporting period 2,698 2,001
Dividends paid (1,549) {1,160)
Changes in shareholdings {1,152) -
Acquisitions 11,912 -
Foreign currency translation reserve 3.611 (321)
Accumulated NCI at 30 September 25,201 9,681
*Restated see note 29
Summarised .ﬁnancial information for the AS Group is set out in the table below:
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Current assets 18,670 9,344
Non-current assets 4,543 304
Current lzabilities (9,694) {2,213)
Non-current liabilities (148) (1,758)
Revenue 44 471 25,054
Profit and total comprehensive income 6,158 3,131
Net cash from operating activities 1.987 (40)
Net cash used in investing activities (201) (160)
Net cash used in financing activities 1,270 {1,160}
Net cash Inflow/{outflow) 3,056 (1,360)

The Group has aggregated the subsidiary financial information of Smartbox Assistive Technology Limited and associated

subsidiaries, and Sensory Software {ntemmational Limited (Collectively ‘Smartbox’) acquired on 5 October 2020 REHAVISTA
GmBH, acquired on 29 November, is included in the Smartbox aggregation, see note 4. The Group has considered it
appropriate to aggregate (he informaltion due to geographical location and the nature of the activities being performed being

consistent. The below table shows the subsidiaries that form part of the Group.

Proportion of cwnership Proportion of voting rights

interests held by

held by noncontrolling

Subsidiary name Principal place of business non-controlling interests* interests
2022 2021 2022 2021
Smartbox Holdings Limited England and Wales 17% 30% 17% 30%
* Qwnership interests reflect the indirect economic interest held by the Group in material NCls. The voting rights reflect the
actua) voting rights held by NC1 in each of the entities disclosed
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Profit allocated to NCls during the reporting period 528 454
Changes in shareholdings (901} -
Accumulated NCI at 30 Septernber 1,539 1,914
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Summarised financial information for the Smartbox Group is set out in the table below:

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Current assets 139 139
Non-current assets 20,668 11,983
Curment liabilittes ) ) (2,769} (3,550)
Nan-current liabilities ' (5,830} (2,780)
29. Restatement
During the current financial year the following disclosure errors were identified and the comparatives have been restated.
a) Leases
i It has been identified that the total cash outflows for leases disclosed in note 10 of £7,693,000 has been
understated by £5,019,000, being £2,467,000 relating to cash flows from leases previously reported as
finance leases under |1AS 17 and cash flows of £2,552,000 relating to low value and short-term leases, both
of which were excluded the disclosure in error. The correction is eXplained in the below table:
2021
£'000
Total cash outflows for leases as previously presented in Note 11 7.693
Existing |AS 17 leases now under IFRS 16 2,467
Low value and short-term lcascs 2,652
Restated total cash outflows for leases presented in Note 11 12,712
ii. It has been identified that the table representing the movements in the analysis of changes in liabilities
from financing activities in Note 26 has incorrectly classified and increase £5,675,000 as acquired thraugh
business combination as opposed to new leases. Additionally, a total amount of £879,000 relating to the
expense and related cash flows for hire purchase motor vehicle interest, £413,000, and ground rent
interest, £466,000, were left out of the disclosure in error, however comrectly included in the income
statement and statement of cash flows. This comection is presented in the below table:
Businéss Previous Restated
l.ease liabitities  Combinations 1A% 17 leases lease liabilities
£000 £000 E0CO £000
4 October 2020 88,688 - - 88,688
Cash flows (9,230} - (879) (10,109)
Acquired through business acquisitions 36,639 (5.675) - 30,964
New leases 4,612 5,675 - 10,287
Interest expense 3,572 - 879 4,451
30 September 2021 124,281 - - 124,281

iii. It has been identified the expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of the lease
liability in note 11 in 2021 was erronecusly disclosed as £321,000, as a significant number of short-term
lease costs were omitted. The correct amount is £2,552,000.
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b} Non-controlling interests

i. It has been identified that an error was included in note 28 relating to profit allocated to NCls during the
reporting period for AS Group and the accumulate NCY at 30 September 2021. Dividends and foreign
currency translation reserve were incorrectly netted off to determine profit in 2021. As a result, the closing
reserves position is incorrect, it should be £9,681,000 which includes a £46,000 opening balance

discrepancy.

Profit allocated to NCls Accumulate NCI

£000 £000

Previously stated 521 8,567
Dividends 1,160 1,160
Foreign currency translation reserve 320 -
Other - (48)
Restated 2,001 9,681

: ii.. The table containing proportion of ownership interests held by non-controlling interests was incorrectly

i presented in the AS Group disclosure in note 28. Additionally the change in structure was omitted to be

f presented, AS2 Investments Holdings Ltd (ADGM) has now been included. This did not result in any
measurement of the NCls which were correctly calculated.

Proportion of
ownership
interests held by
non-cantraliing

Proportion of

vating rights held by
non-cantrafling interests

Subsidiary name Principal place of business interests

Previous  Restated Previous Restated
ACFN Dubai United Arab Emirates 35% 66.5% 35% 35%
ACPN Abu Dhabi United Arab Emirates 35% 66.5% 35% 35%
ACPN Al Ain United Arab Emirates 35% 66.5% 35% 35%
AS1 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM) United Arab Emirates 6% 48% 6% 48%
AS2 |nvestments Holding Lid (ADGM) United Arab Emirates - 10.1% - 10.1%
Macani Medical Centre United Arab Emirates 51% 46.1% 51% 1%
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c) Loans and borrowings .
Note 17 and the table of contractual cash flow maturities included in note 28 incorrectly disclosed the carrying
amounts of secured bank loans gross of unamortised finance fees that have been capitalised of £4,507,000 as at 30
September 2021. The correct amount should be £317,896,000. This restatement is illustrated in the tables below: ——— s

£000 ' £000

Previously
presented Restated
Loan principal : 322,403 . 322,403 |
Unamortised finance fees - ) (4,507)
Shareholders loans 1,758 1,758
324,181 319,654
£000
Secured bank
loans
Previously presented ' 322,403
Unamortised finance fees (4,507)
Restated 317,896
d} Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Transactions with owners recarded directly in equity as at 30 September 2021 incorrectly included in the balance
lolal comprehensive income of £34 584,000. The correct amount js £17,883,000. There is no impact to the total
equity as at 30 September 2021.
Sharas
Total
held by Other  attribulable Nan-
Share Share Execulive Retained Merger - Total
capital  premium Dwrsn:::l;zd eamings reserve mm‘::fuen:ur;: to m:;\;:: mr::\:‘;[rt:sgt aquity
Plaﬁ Parent
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £O00 £000
Previously
Transactions with awners
recorded directly in equity ! 472 468 14,499 - (624) 15,016 1,685 16,701
Restated
Transactions with owners 1 4r2 468  (17,409) - —  (16468) (1.415) (17.883)

recarded directly in equity

All restatements during the year have been referenced to this nate.
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Company Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 September 2022

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Non-current assets
Tangible assels 122 . 135
Investments 32 411,188 402,781
411,310 402,916
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 33 223,227 236,041
- Cash and cash equivalents 559 1,553
223,786 237,594
Total assets 635,036 640,510
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 34 321,196 -
Trade and other payables 35 41,995 40,642
363,191 40,642
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 34 - 319,356
Total liabilities 363,191 359,988
Net assets 271,905 280,512
Equity
Share capital 37 575 566
Share premium - 138,926 133,551
Merger reserve 125,842 125,842
Retained eamings . 6,562 20,553
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Parent 271,905 280,512

Under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is exempt from the requirement ta present its own incame
statement. The loss for the year included in the financial statements of the Company was £4,245,000 (2021 profit:
£12,584,000).

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 26™ June 2023 and were
signed on its behalf by:

Fareus, Sleuithe {Iuris Dickinson
Farouq Sheikh OBE Christopher Dickinson
Group Executive Chairman Group Chief Financial Officer

Company number: 04457287
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
as at 30 September 2022

Share capital Share premium  Merger reserve Retained earnings Tatal equity

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 October 2020 565 133,080 125,842 21,025 280,512
Profit for the year and total comprehensive income - - - 12,584 12,584
Issue of shares 1 471 - - 472
Share-based payments’ charge - — - 1,375 1,375
Dividends - - - {14,431) (14,431)
At 30 Septernber 2021 566 133,551 125,842 20,553 ) 280,512
At 1 October 2021 566 133,551 125,842 20,553 280,512
Loss for the year and total comprehensive income - - - (4,245) (4,245)
Issue of shares 2] 5,375 - - 5,384
Share-based payments’ charge - - - 6,223 6,223
Dividends - - - (15,969) (15,969)
At 30 September 2022 575 138,926 125,842 6,562 271,905
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements

30. Accaunting policies
(a) Basis of preparation

CaraTech Holdings PLC (‘the Company’) meets the definition of a qualifying entity under Financial Reporting Standard ('FRS')
100, issued by the Financial Reporting Council {'FRC’). Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, The financial stalements have been prepared on a historical cost
basis except in respect of those financial instruments that have been measured at fair value at the end of each reparting period.
Histarical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange far goods and services.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Campany has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in
relation to share-based payment, financial instruments, capital management, presentation of comparative information in respect
of certain assets, presentation of cash flow statement and certain related-party transactions.

(b) Investments

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated in the balance sheet of the Company at cost less impairment written off.

(c) Cash and liquid resourtces

Cash, for the purpose of the cash flow statement, comprises cash in hand and depasits repayable on demand and those with
maturities of three months or less from inceplion, less overdrafts payable on demand.

(d) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recagnition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amartised cost with any difference between praceeds {net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value being recagnised in the consalidated income statement over the period of the borrowings on
an effective interest basis.

Borrowings are classified as current fiabifities unless the Company has an uncanditional fight to defer settlement of the liabifity
for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

(e) Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates o items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current lax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rales and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years,

(f) Revenue

Revenue represents management fees receivable, in respect of the period to which management services ralate.

{g) Share-hased payments

The share option programme allows employees to acquire shares of the Company. The fair value of options granted is
recagnised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and
spread over the period during which the emplayees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the options
granted is measured using an option pricing model, taking into account the ferms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where
forfeiture is only due to share prices not achieving the threshold for vesting.

Where the Company grants options over its own shares to the employees of its subsidiaries it recognises an increase in the
cost of investment in its subsidiaries equivalent to the equity-settled share-based payment charge recognised in its subsidiary’s
financial statements with the comesponding credit being recognised directly in equity.

{h) Employee Benefit Trust (‘'EBT’)

The Company has not elected to consclidate the employee benefit trust and consequently recognise it as an invesiment in
suhsidiary, and recognise a receivable balance for any shares issued to the trust, and is subseguently measured at amortised
cost. These receivables are payable on demand and do not carry any interest. Considering these amounts are receivable on
the sale of shares held by the trust and such shares are quoted higher than the value receivable, the Company are of the view
that there are no credit losses as at balance sheet date,
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(i) Financial instruments

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financizal instrument. All financial assels are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable).
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the
Company designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent measurernent of financial assets and
financial liabilities are described below.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the
financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished,
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following categories upon initial
recognition:

. Financial assets at amartised cost.
. Financial assets/fliabilities held at "FVTPL".

FVTPL assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or fosses recognised in profit or loss. The fair values of
financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where
no active market exists. '

All income and expenses relating ta financial assets that are recognised in the consolidated income statement are presented
within finance costs or finance income, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within other
administrative expenses.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assels are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated as
FVTPL):

. they are held within a business mede! whose objective is to hold the financial assets and colfect its contractual cash flows;
and

» the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is omitted where
the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Company's cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into
this category of financial instruments,

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assels that are held within a different business mode! other than ‘hold to collect or ‘hold to collect and selt® are
categorised at fair vaiue through prufit and lass. Further, imespective of business model financial assels whose centractual
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall
into this category.

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recagnised in profit or loss. The fair values of financial
assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where no
aclive market exists.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

The Company's financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables and derivative financial instruments. Financial
liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for financial liabilities held far
trading or designated at FVTPL, that are carried subsequently at fair value with gains cr losses recognised in the consolidated
income statement. All derivative financial instruments that are not designated and effective as hedging instruments are
accounted for at FVTPL,

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument's fair value that are reported in consolidated income
statement are included within finance costs or finance income.
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From time to time, the long-term debt held by the Company are either refinanced as these come to maturity, or the margin on
these facilities moves in line with the ratio of the Group's net debt to adjusted EBITDA. In either scenario, the Company reviews
whether the debt is accounted for as a modification or an extinguishment of the liabifity. A substantial modification should be
accounied for as an extinguishment of the existing liability and the recognition of a new liability. A non-substantial maedification
should be accounted for as an adjustment to the existing liability. Both the quantitative and qualitative aspects of the
modification are taken into account to ascertain whether the modification is substantial and these can include the change in
covenants, repayment dates and the effective interest rate. If modification accounting is adopted, the carrying value of the
existing liability is adjusted for fees paid or costs incurred and the effective interest rate is amended at the modification date. If
extinguishment accounting is adopted, the existing liability is de-recognised and the rew or modified liability is recognised at its
fair value, the gain or loss equal to the difference between the camying value of the old liability and the fair value of the new one
is recognised, any incremental costs of fees incurred and any consideration paid or received is recognised in profit or loss and
a new effective interest rate for the modified liability is calculated and used in future periods.

Derivative financial instruments

Fram time fo time, the Company enters into derivative financial instruments, such as interest rale swaps, fo manage its
exposure to interest rate risk.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative is entered into and are subsequently re-measured to
their fair value at each balance sheet date. A derivative with a pasitive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a
derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability, The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement immediately. A dervative is presented as a non-current asset or non-current liatility if the
Company has an unconditional nght to defer payment beyond 12 months. Otherwise derivatives are presented as current
assets or liabilities.

As part of the incorporation of Smartbox Holdings, the Group has granted the non-controlling interesls the option {o request the
Group to acquire some or all of their shares in Smartbox Holdings Limited. The Company recognises the liability for this put
option on a net basis as it is not awn equity.

{j) Dividends on shares presented within shareholders’ funds

Dividends unpaid at the balance sheet date are only recognised as a liability at that date to the extent that they are
appropriately authorised and are no longer at the discretion of the Company. Unpaid dividends that do not meet these criteria
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements,

(k) Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the premium arising on the ordinary shares issued as consideration for the acquisition of shares
in another company (‘'merger relief).

Merger reserve

2022 2021
£000 £000
Opening balance 1 October 125,842 125,842
1ssue of shares (see Note 24) - -
At 30 September 125842 125,842
31. Dividends
The aggregate amount of dividends comprises:
2022 2024
£000 £000
Interim dividend paid in respect of prior year but nol recognised as liabilities in that year
(4.6p per share, (2021: 4.0p per share}) 5,210 4,525
Final dividend paid in respect of the prior year (8.5p per share, {2021: 8.75p per share}) 10,759 8,906
Aggregate amount of dividends paid in the financial year (14_1p per share (2021: 12.75p per share)) 15,969 14,431

The aggregate amount of dividends propﬁsed and not recognised as liabilities as at the year-end is nil per share, £nil (2021:
14.1p per share, £10,482,730).
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32, investments

Shares in Group

undertakings
£000
Cost and net book value
At 1 October 2021 402,781
Acquisitions (see Note 4) 8,407
At 30 September 2022 411,188
33. Trade and other receivables
2022 2021
£000 £000
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 206,616 204,738
Arnounts owed by the Employment Benefit Trust 10,763 11,303
Amounts owed by parent 5327 )
Other debtors 521 -
223227 236,041
These balances owed by Group undertakings accrue intercompany interest at a rate of 3% per annum and are repayable on
demand. Please refer to note 1 and the statement on going cohcem. Intercompany financial assets were assessed by
management for impairment using the expected credit joss model under IFRS 9. The assets are considered to have low credit
risk and consequentially an immaterial credit loss was assessed and no provision has been made.
34. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Company's interest-bearing loans and bomowings. For mare
infomation about the Group's exposure to interest rate risk, please see note 26 in the Group accounts.
Terms and debt repayment schedule
) Book value Book value
Nominal interest Year of 2022 2021
Currency rate (%) maturity £000 £000
Term loan £ 4.29 (2021: 2.04)" 2023 161,202 161,202
Term loan £ 4.54 (2021: 2.04)" 2023 161,201 161,201
Revalving credit facility term loan £ (2021: 2.04) 2023 - -
322 403 322 403

*  The margin on the facilities is stated at the current rate and can change between 1.50% and 3.25% based on the ratio of

the Group's net debt to adjusted EBITDA.

The principal amounts and associated interest were settled in full on 7 October, please see note 26.
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35. Trade and other payables

2022 2021

£000 £000Q

Amounts due to Graup undertakings 30,302 37,259
Other creditors 11,693 3.383 .

41,995 40,6842

These balances due to Group undertakings accrue intercompany interest at a rate of 3% per annum.

36. Contingent liabilities
As per note 28, the Company have taken the audit exemption for a number of subsidiaries by virtue of s479A of the Companies
Act. A Parent Company guarantee has been provided for these entities under s479C of the Companies Act.

37. Called-up share capital ’ i

2022 2024
£000 £000
Alonted, called up and fully paid:
114,915,043 (2021 113,327,459) ordinary shares of 0.5p each 578 566
53,402 deferred shares of 0.5p each V] 0
|
575 566 :

The holders of the ardinary shares are entitied to receive dividends as declared from lime to time and are entilled 1o one vote
per share at meetings of the Company. The deferred shares have no such rights. Details in respect of the movements in equity
are given n note 23 to the Group financial statements, !

Details in respect of the reserves are given in note 24 to the Group financial statements.

38. Staff numbers and costs
The Company has no employaes (2021: none) other than the Directors. Directors’ emoluments are shown on page 44,

39. Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

The Company operates a number of defined contribution pension plans. The total Company expense relating to these plans in
the cumrent year was £nil {2021: £nil).

Share-based payments
There was no expense for share-based payments relating to the Company’s employees in the year (2021: £nil).

The grants and related accounting treatment adopted by the Company is identical to that operated by the Group under IFRS 2
‘Share-Based Fayments' (see note 22).

40. Related parties
The Company receives dividends from its subsidiaries according to their ability to remit them and received interest in intergroup
loans. Other delails of related-party transactions have been given in note 27 ta the consalidated accounts.

Under FRS 101, the Company is exempt from disclosing key management personnel compensation and transactions with other
entities wholly owned by the Company.
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41. Controlling party

Prior to 27 September 2022, Caretech Holdings Limited (formerly, Caretech Holdings PLC) was a publicly listed company.
From 27 September 2022 cnwards, the parent is Amalfi Bidco Limited, a company incorporated in United Kingdom whose
registered address is Metropolitan House, 3 Darkes Lane, Potters Bar, Hertfordshire EN& 1AG. The ultimate controlling party is
Amalfi Topco Limited, a Company incorporated in Jersey whose registered address is 47 Esplanade, St. Helier, JE1 0BD.
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